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OUR COVER

EEI Corporation, the World’s Partner in Construction is 
now on its 80th year of existence.

Unwavering in its efforts to achieve greater feats and 
set industry standards, EEI continues to grow — refining 
its values, enhancing its capabilities, innovating in its 
processes and methodologies, and adapting to changes 
in the business environment.

Faithful to its commitment of delivering quality and 
excellence and bringing Filipino expertise to the rest of 
the world, EEI is stronger than ever!
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FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS
EEI Corporation and Subsidiaries
In Million Pesos, except financial ratios and per share data

EEI CORPORATION   Financial Highlights
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MESSAGE TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS

We have remained focused, worked on the 
essentials and have responded to the changing 
business environment as well as to the emerging 
opportunities. Three years ago, at the height of 
the global financial crisis, construction activities 
in the domestic market were down but our strong 
presence in the Middle East where we were 
doing large industrial projects buoyed us in those 
difficult times. The following year, the trend 
reversed with the lag in construction activity from 
our operations in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 
(KSA) but increased activities in the domestic 
market carried the weight for the Company.

Last year, both EEI’s domestic and foreign 
operations showed growth as global recovery 
continued to take place. Thus, 2010 was once 
again a banner year for EEI. The net income of 
P657.2 million surpassed our own targets for the 
year. This is more than three times the net income 
we made in 2006.

Growth was made possible by our clients and 
of course, by our team of employees who continue 
to make EEI stronger and stronger every year.

Stronger Foreign Operations

EEI Corporation is now more multinational with 
the increase in size of our operations in foreign 
countries. Our joint venture partnership in the 
KSA remains strong and we have become a 
preferred contractor for heavy industrial projects 
in the Kingdom. We continue to capitalize on our 
vast experience in the petrochemical, oil and gas, 
power, and mining sectors to get more projects 
overseas.

The recent turmoil in some Middle East 
countries and North Africa has created some 
concern. Although EEI’s presence in the Middle 
East is limited to the KSA and Qatar where the 
situation appears to be under control, we are 

EEI Corporation has transformed in many ways over the last five years. 
Our products and services may be basically the same, but the quality of 
the work that we deliver and the manner by which we serve our clients 
have improved significantly.

EEI CORPORATION   Message to the Shareholders



EEI CORPORATION         2010 Annual Report 3

carefully studying the socio-political conditions 
as well as the business climate. For as long as the 
risks are well understood and manageable, EEI 
will continue to serve these markets.

At the start of 2010, one of our strategies 
was to use our experience in large industrial 
facilities to establish presence and pursue business 
opportunities in other parts of the world. Thus, 
we have already set up offices in Guam and in 
Singapore. We are already doing some work in 
Singapore for Exxon Mobile under Shaw Stone 
and Webster Asia and we are looking at some 
projects in Guam.

Stronger Domestic Operations

The domestic construction market has also been 
revived and we have managed to get a good 
share of the new projects in the construction 
of buildings, industrial facilities and modular 
assemblies. We are affirmed by the fact that many 

of our projects come from existing clients.
The modernization program and upgrading of 

equipment and software used both for construction 
and for our steel fabrication plant is going on. Many 
of our old equipment have been retired and replaced 
allowing us to accomplish work faster and more 
efficiently.

The layout improvements in the Batangas Steel 
Fabrication Shop are being done to accommodate 
more machines and to allow a smoother flow of 
work, thus increasing our fabrication capacity.

We are constructing the first building in the 
Philippines that is designed to achieve Leadership 
in Energy and Environment Design (LEED) gold 
certification. We are happy to be considered a 
partner in contributing to the client’s certification 
through our adoption of safeguards and procedures 
in our construction methodologies. We will use 
these procedures in our other clients’ projects, 
to integrate this dimension of concern for the 
environment in our service.
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Stronger Business Processes and 
Support Services

The improvements we have started a few years 
ago related to Supply Chain Management and 
Productivity have been paying off. There are 
improved efficiencies brought about by the 
automation of the procurement process through 
its computerization. Procurement lead times 
have been reduced significantly and errors are 
minimized.

The work of our information technology 
group has also contributed large improvements 
in our business processes. The use of our VOIP 
systems has enhanced our communications most 
especially between head office, the Batangas 
Fabrication Shop, and our overseas operations in 
Singapore and Saudi Arabia, allowing quicker 
response and decision making.

We are installing a new document 
management system in the organization which 
should facilitate internal processes and data 
sharing, and should bring about a decrease in the 
use of paper.

The savings reaped from these initiatives 
have significantly improved our bottom line.

Stronger People

Behind all these are the dedicated people who 
make up Team EEI. We believe we executed our 
business plans effectively to make sure that our 
operations will proceed smoothly.

With the prospects that we are looking at, 
recruitment and training will continue to be a 
priority. We will develop people to make sure 
that we will continuously have the right number 

EEI CORPORATION   Message to the Shareholders
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and quality of managers, supervisors and skilled 
workers to run our operations in the Philippines 
and overseas.

Safety and quality will always be main 
concerns of the EEI Team. And it will do so with 
a focus on the environment and more deliberate 
effort in decreasing our carbon footprint.

Stronger Than Ever

We are on our 80th year of providing service. 
As we celebrate this milestone, we do so with 
a strong sense of excitement. With our eight 
decades of experience, EEI Corporation remains 
to be Vibrant, Dynamic and Spirited.

We thank our clients, customers, suppliers, 
and partners in the industries we serve for 
bringing us this far. To them, we continue to 

commit excellence in the quality of the products 
and services that we deliver.

We thank our Board of Directors for the 
continued guidance that they give and from whom 
we draw the wisdom that provides the power of 
synergy. We thank all the employees of Team EEI 
whose dedication and hard work are done with 
integrity and passion for excellence.  From them, 
we draw from the depth of our experience honed 
by our long history of working for the world in 
good times and during tough conditions. And we 
thank all our shareholders for the confidence that 
they have put in EEI.

To all of you, our stakeholders, you are 
the true source of our strength and with your 
continued support and trust, we commit to you 
an even stronger EEI Corporation in the years to 
come.

Rizalino S. Navarro
Chairman of the Board

Roberto Jose L. Castillo
President and CEO

EEI CORPORATION   Message to  the Shareholders
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EEI CORPORATION
STRONGER THAN EVER

EEI CORPORATION   Stronger Than Ever

With a legacy of 80 years, EEI has persevered and worked its way to become a solid 
and steady foundation in the construction industry. “Stronger” is how EEI defines itself.  
As it works towards achieving its vision, it has refined its core values and employed 
more committed people resulting in first-class quality and safety in all of its projects 
and undertakings. 

EEI takes pride in its many capabilities and in its achievements and performance in 
the year that passed. Nevertheless, EEI continues to fine-tune its systems, processes 
and programs to ensure that value is created for all its stakeholders.

Better Quality

EEI upgraded to ISO 9001:2008

Last May, 2010, EEI Corporation went through 
a surveillance audit conducted by TÜV SÜD 
and was recommended for upgrade from ISO 
9001:2000 to ISO 9001:2008. TÜV SÜD is an 
international service organization that provides 
consulting, testing, certification and training 
to ensure that standards for quality, safety and 
reliability as well as environmental protection and 
cost-effectiveness are met.

This marks the 14th straight year of EEI’s 
ISO certification, and underscores the Company’s 
enduring commitment to quality. EEI was first 
certified to ISO 9002:1994 in 1996. Since then, 
the Company has consistently maintained and 
updated its quality management system to keep 
up with the requirements of this International 
Standard as it evolves. Today, EEI is ISO 
9001:2008 certified which it achieved in 2010.

ARCC is OHSAS 18001:2007 Certified

ARCC is now an OHSAS 18001:2007 
(Occupational Health and Safety Assessment 
Series) certified company by TÜV.

TÜV conducted a series of audits consisting 
of a pre-audit and a two-phase Certification Audit 
on selected ARCC projects, camps and facilities in 
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (KSA) and verified 
the company’s compliance on the particulars of 
OHSAS 18001:2007 requirements.

Despite having a comprehensive health and 
safety program in place since 2003, ARCC 
decided to go beyond, recognizing the health 
risks faced by its large work force that did heavy 
manual work in harsh working environments.  
To address the higher risks involved, ARCC 
adopted proactive programs that looked after and 
protected the health and safety of all its employees 
and stakeholders and aligned its Health, Safety, 
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Security & Environmental (HSSE) Management 
System with global requirements for construction 
businesses.

This certification reinforces the company’s 
commitment to protect the employees while 
improving the competence of its operations.

ASME Certification

The ARCC Pipe Spool Fabrication Plant in the 
KSA has recently been issued ASME Certificates 
of Authorization to apply the American Society 
of Mechanical Engineers (ASME) Code Symbol 
Stamps for its assembly of power boilers, 
fabrication and assembly of pressure piping, and 
manufacture of boiler parts.

ASME is a professional body focused on 
mechanical engineering known for setting 
standards for mechanical devices. To be allowed 
to apply the ASME stamp on its products is, once 
again, a testament that the fabrication processes 
strictly adhere to quality standards and procedures.

Improved Safety Awareness and 
Safety Empowerment

In 2010 alone, the Corporate Safety, Health, 
Environment, and Security (SHES) Department 
strengthened the Company’s safety culture by 
providing training to a total of 7,132 participants 
in fifteen (15) different safety courses. 

One of the core values of EEI is Safety and 
Environmental Protection. It is no wonder that all 
heads of departments and all officers of EEI are 
made to undergo the Basic Occupational Safety and 
Health course, a DOLE prescribed training for 
people in the Construction Industry.

The Working at Heights course was conducted 
at project sites to a total of 1,959 participants.

Behavior Based Safety Program was also started 

in 2010. This approach of applying the science 
of behavior change to understand what people 
do and why they do it helps in the design and 
creation of interventions that reduce unsafe acts in 
the project sites.

All these trainings resulted in an increase in 
participation and commitment from employees 
in all levels of the company. The Authorization to 
STOP Work policy empowers all employees to 
discontinue any work that has been found to cause 
imminent danger if activities performed may 
bring about any incident that could potentially 
harm employees or damage property. 

2010 was also the second year for the ZERO 
Accident Olympics (ZAO), a company-wide 
safety competition that increases awareness in 
safety, improves safety attitudes, and eliminates 
unsafe acts and conditions in the work site. EEI 
recorded several achievements through its safety 
performance in its projects. 

It takes pride in its projects that have 
accomplished over 1 million safe man-hours 
without lost time incident: (as of December 31, 
2010)

ONE SERENDRA IIA and IIB            21,395,184

BEACON TOWER   2,560,077

MANDARIN TOWER   2,516,110

ERG-MAJADA    2,407,770

SM TWO E-COM   2,135,567

TAGUIG BATCHING PLANT  1,778,227

BATANGAS STEEL FABSHOP  1,769,469

GA SKY SUITES   1,471,332

SM PRINCETON RESIDENCES  1,041,719

MICT BERTH 6    1,037,063

EEI’s commitment to safety is definitely stronger 
than ever with the increase in safety awareness and 
employee safety empowerment.
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Strengthened Values

Core Values Formation

Having defined its Vision and Mission in 2008, EEI 
Corporation’s officers and executives identified and 
refined its Core Values in early 2010.

The values that are central to EEI, which will 
guide how its citizens should act in accordance with its 
Mission and towards the realization of its Vision are:

Integrity. The consistent observance of ethics and 
morality in thoughts, words and actions. This value 
manifests EEI’s Godliness, Honor and Professionalism;

Passion for Excellence. EEI’s insatiable commitment 
to improvement and innovation. This is a manifestation 
of the company’s commitment to Quality, Synergy, 
Training and Education, and, Organizational 
Stewardship;

Fairness to Stakeholders. The conviction that 
stakeholders should receive what is due them. This 
speaks of EEI’s commitment to its employees, customers, 
shareholders, suppliers and the community to uphold 
Malasakit (Compassion), Loyalty, Transparency and Cost 
Consciousness;

Safety and Environmental Protection. EEI’s firm 
belief in the respect for human lives, property and the 
environment. This value is about thinking, saying and 
acting responsibly to ensure that no one is hurt and 
nothing is damaged in the conduct of our work.

EEI gives high regard to its core values and 
competencies as it believes that these not only promote 
the success and welfare of the company and of the 
people involved with it, but also defines avenues for the 
growth of each one.

Gawad OFW Award

In July 2010, ARCC employees Dennis B. Oliveros 
(Group Supervisor for Accounting Group) and Elyjar 
B. Villalobos (Project Accountant) were recognized 
for their exemplary acts of honesty for returning to the 
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bank a huge amount of excess money which the 
bank delivered for their payroll fund by mistake.

Last December 10, 2010, both were given 
the Gawad OFW Award 2010 for KATAPATAN 
CATEGORY by Ex-Link Management and 
Marketing Services Corporation. The two were 
honored for the admirable integrity they had 
displayed.

Significant Achievements

Presidential Award of Excellence 

Last April 21, 2010, EEI received the Presidential 
Award of Excellence as part of the 2009 Agency 
Performance Awards of the Philippine Overseas 
Employment Administration (POEA).

The Presidential Awards of Excellence, 
created by virtue of Proclamation No. 1519, are 
conferred on agencies in recognition of their 
consistent excellent performance in providing 
decent and gainful employment to overseas 
Filipino workers.

Corporate Governance

Last June 15, 2010, EEI received an award from 
Corporate Governance Asia at the 6th Corporate 

Governance Asia Recognition Awards 2010 
for being among the Best of Asia in corporate 
governance. This award recognizes the companies 
that have contributed significantly to the overall 
development of corporate governance and 
have demonstrated best practices in corporate 
governance, corporate social responsibility, and 
environmental practice.

2010 was an excellent year for the company in 
terms of financial performance and business 
development. The challenges it has encountered 
and overcome throughout the years have made it 
enduring.

EEI is prepared for the bigger challenges that 
the global construction industry is confronted 
with today. As one of the leading construction 
companies in the Philippines, EEI commits to 
perform its absolute best in the business as it 
continues to make a mark and seize its target 
being the world’s partner in construction.

EEI Corporation, indeed more capable and 
steadfast after 80 years of experience, is zealously 
working to build the dreams of its stakeholders.

EEI, Stronger Than Ever.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION &
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS
In the Philippines

In 2010, Philippine Gross Domestic Product (GDP) grew by 7.3%, the country’s biggest annual 
growth in 34 years and a substantial improvement over the 2009 level of only 1.1%. This growth 
was broad-based, spurred by private consumption and a rebound in foreign trade, investments and 
net exports.

Despite diminished government spending during the second semester of the year, the 
Construction, Property and Services Sectors performed admirably in the last quarter of 2010 
turning in bigger profits and putting these in a good position to capitalize on the expected upturn 
come year 2011. Based on the government’s output report for 2010, the Construction sector 
posted a 14.91% growth, with consolidated output pegged at P448.67 billion, compared with 
P390.45 billion the previous year when the reported growth was just 5.8%.
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In the Middle East

The global financial crisis did not spare 
the Middle East but their good economic 
fundamentals and sizeable currency reserves 
mitigated the shock. The increase in oil prices 
during the year benefited this region of oil 
exporting countries, fueling the infrastructure 
industry and its ancillary businesses.

Developing economies of the Middle East 
witnessed a modest upturn in growth in 2010. 
This was driven by domestic absorption as well 
as a positive contribution from external demand.  
The recovery was dependent on its financial 
sector, price of oil, and balance of payments, 
reflecting the impact on trade, remittances and 
foreign direct investment flows.

Petrochemical and heavy industries moved 
at a snail’s pace in 2009 as a result of the lack 
of credit which followed the global financial 
meltdown in 2008. Most construction projects 
that were put out for bids went for very low 

margins and thus were not very profitable for 
larger companies until the latter part of 2010, 
when more projects were put out with relatively 
higher margin possibilities as a result of the 
rebound in oil prices.

The GDP growth for the Middle East in 
2010 was 4.09%, which is 0.22 more than the 
world’s average GDP growth, as contrasted to 
the 2.04% in 2009.

At mid-year, the Company reported a 5.8% 
increase in consolidated net income despite a 
5.7% decrease in consolidated revenues for that 
period, highlighting the Company’s dexterity and 
prudence at fiscal management. The Company’s 
efforts paid off, as at year-end, consolidated 
revenues reached P6.89 billion, 9.9% higher than 

Financial Highlights

EEI CORPORATION   Management’s Discussion of Operations
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the P6.27 billion posted in 2009. EEI’s net income 
for 2010 grew by 16.7%, surpassing the Company’s 
challenging target for the year by a considerable 
amount.

The actual combined production value of 
domestic and foreign projects in 2010, as reflected 
in the financial statement’s Segment Information 
– a way by which the Company organizes their 
business units based on geographical location 
– amounted to P15.07 billion, down by 33.2% 
from the 2009 combined production value of 
P22.57 billion. However, revenue from domestic 
operations grew by 25.4%, from P5.04 billion 
in 2009 to P6.32 billion in 2010. Revenue from 
foreign operations, on the other hand, dropped by 
50.1% from P17.54 billion in 2009 to P8.75 billion 
in 2010, as the Company deliberately stayed out 
of the aforementioned low-margin projects in the 
Middle East.

In 2010, EEI remained true to its calling of 
being a multinational and multicultural company 
with 58% of its global operations comprising 
international projects. EEI has a 49% stake in Al 
Rushaid Construction Company, Ltd. (ARCC), 
a joint venture company incorporated in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (KSA) with the Al 
Rushaid Petroleum Investment Company of the 
Al-Rushaid Group, one of the region’s foremost 
pioneers in Construction, Petrochemicals and Oil 
and Gas Services. 

The increase in consolidated revenues 
observed in 2010 was mainly due to the Company 
bagging 30% more local construction contracts 
during the year. As projected and anticipated, 
the pickup of the domestic Construction Sector 
during the year went hand in hand with the aim 
for more active participation in local projects by 

EEI CORPORATION   Management’s Discussion of Operations
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the Company. And as expected to grow together 
with the boom of the Construction Sector, Real 
Estate Sales and Merchandise Sales increased 
by 31.4% and 32.1% respectively, even though 
revenues from Services decreased by 32.0%.

The contribution to EEI’s revenues of its 
international operations amounted to P321.06 
million in 2010 – a 39.5% drop from the P530.36 
million it posted in 2009.  This was the result of 
the deliberate lessening of overseas projects and 
activities in certain areas of the globe in 2010, 
mainly to avoid overexposure in any one region 
and at the same time to hedge against fluctuations 
in business demands globally. By diversifying 
through expansion in other regions and 

strengthening local operations, the Company was 
able to support its growth despite the slowdown 
experienced in certain regions.

Due to proper forecasting of foreign exchange 
exposures, the Company was able to book P131.69 
million principally in foreign exchange gains from 
its fabrication project for Stone & Webster Asia, 
Inc., by denominating the contract in Singapore 
dollars, which appreciated substantially against the 
US dollar during the contract period.
Thus, EEI was able to hedge against fluctuations 
in market demand. Seeing how this formula of 
expanding in other areas and prudent handling 
of financial exposure translated to success, the 
Company is leaning towards implementing this 

EEI CORPORATION   Message to the Shareholders
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strategy in the years to come. 
Even though Interest Income and Other 

Income both registered declines of 4.1% and 
20.5% respectively in 2010 compared to 2009 
figures, consolidated revenues grew by 9.9% while 
the corresponding costs increased by just 7.5%, 
from P5.38 billion to P5.78 billion.

The costs related to construction contracts 
increased by 30.3% which, however, was offset 
by the 30.0% increase in revenue from such 
contracts. Cost containment, achieved through 
improved efficiency and productivity, can be seen 
in the 34.1% decrease in costs related to services.  
Noteworthy is the 5.0% decrease in costs of 
merchandize sales, from P119.18 million in 2009 
to P113.21 million in 2010, despite the 32.1% 
increase in revenues derived from such sales.

EEI CORPORATION   Management’s Discussion of Operations

As an effect of the lingering increase in costs 
of doing business, selling and administrative 
expenses increased by 16.8%, from P628.72 
million in 2009 to P734.36 million in 2010, 
while interest expense on long-term loans 
increased by P9.65 million, a 40.9% increase. 
Interest expense on short-term loans, however, 
decreased by P128.14 million – a 68.7% 
reduction from P186.53 million in 2009. This 
was achieved by considerably reducing short-
term bank loans, from P1.2 billion in 2009 
to P239 million in 2010; and because of the 
significant decline in average interest rates with it 
being at 11.51% in 2009 to 5.0% in 2010. Loans 
were paid off early when the Company achieved 
a cash-rich position during the year so that 
interest expense could be effectively controlled.

Total current assets decreased by P992.03 
million due to the 66.7% decrease in costs 
and estimated earnings in excess of billings 
on uncompleted contracts, while total non-
current assets increased by 26.6% largely due 
to investments in associate and joint venture 
and property, plant and equipment (PPE). The 
investments in associate and joint venture, which 
increased by 38.1%, represents the net increase 
– accounted for under the equity method – in 
EEI’s 49% ownership of ARCC.

The increase in value of PPE by 44.1% is due 
to the purchase of new construction equipment 
and tools, as well as the upgrading of equipment 
and continuing modernization program of its 
Steel Fabrication Plant in Batangas.

The net effect of these developments is a 
decrease in consolidated total assets by 4.0%, 
from P8.22 billion in 2009 to P7.89 billion in 
2010.
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The early payment of loans resulted in the 
Company’s total current liabilities decreasing by 
7.4%, from P4.43 billion to P4.10 billion with a 
79.6% reduction in bank loans, from P1.17 billion 
in 2009 to P239.90 million in 2010.

Likewise, total noncurrent liabilities decreased 
by 91.6%, from P530.45 million in 2009 to P44.70 
million in 2010 mainly from the 97.1% reduction 
in long-term debt from P478.68 million to P13.67 
million in 2010. This resulted in a reduction of 
consolidated total liabilities by 16.4%, from P4.96 
billion in 2009 to P4.15 billion in 2010.

The registered P3.74 billion of total equity in 
2010 is a 14.9% rise from 2009 levels principally 
brought about by the 32.2% growth in retained 
earnings, from P1.72 billion to P2.27 billion in 
2010. The resulting debt to equity ratio shows an 
improvement from 1.52:1 as of end 2009 to 1.11:1 
as of end 2010.

The earnings per share amounted to P0.63 for 
2010 compared to P0.54 registered the previous 
year. Cash dividends paid out in 2010 amounted 
to P103.6 million, representing 18.4% of the 2009 
net income. The total dividend payout of P0.10 
per share translates to a dividend yield of 2.5%, 
based on the beginning 2010 share price of the 
Company.

These gains from financing activities, the 
reductions in costs, and the increase in the 
contribution margins all contributed positively to 
achieve the 16.7% growth in net income of the 
Company in 2010.

As can be surmised by the year’s results, 
prudent and conservative actions by the 
Company’s management protected its revenue 
growth and supported its expansion in other areas 
of the globe.

Domestic construction was already in the path 
of recovery in the first semester of 2010 and was 
followed through strongly in the second half of 
the year. For the year 2010, the Company was 
awarded domestic projects worth P7.76 billion, 
a 37.3% improvement over the P5.65 billion 
awarded to it in 2009. Overseas projects, on the 
other hand, had not yet picked up in the first half 
of 2010 from the slowdown in 2009. However, 
this changed in the second semester and at 
yearend, awarded foreign projects amounted 
to P10.88 billion, 19.4% higher than the P9.11 
billion that was won in 2009.

In 2010, EEI continued to develop innovative 
methodologies and approaches in the construction 
of buildings and infrastructure projects.  
Successful steps had been taken in acquiring 
Design and Build capabilities in selected types of 
projects.

Domestic orders’ backlog – which represents 
portions of existing contracts that have yet to be 
completed – as of 31 December 2010 amounted to 
P7.98 billion, a 36.9% increase from P5.83 billion 
as of the end of 2009. The backlog of overseas 
projects stood at P18.61 billion at the end of 2010 
which is an 88.4% increase over the P9.88 billion 
the previous year.

As planned, EEI strengthened its presence 
in other parts of the globe outside the Middle 
East. The Company was able to register offices in 
Guam and Singapore and was in fact successful 
in acquiring a project in Singapore involving 
the carry-over works for the Singapore Parallel 
Train Olefins Recovery Project of Exxon Mobil 
under Stone & Webster Asia, Inc. The process 

EEI CORPORATION   Management’s Discussion of Operations

Results of Operations
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of establishing presence in other countries had 
been started as well, with the Company targeting 
several large contracts abroad in the coming 
months, particularly in Guam for the transfer 
of the US Naval Base from Okinawa, Japan and 
other military build-up in the island.

Recruitment and training of manpower was 
a priority strategic thrust. The intention was to 
build up manpower to complement the ramp-
up in overall workforce to match the projected 
requirements, both in domestic and overseas 
markets.

EEI’s average manpower complement in 2010 
was 15,519 personnel per month, deployed in 
overseas projects in Qatar, New Caledonia, Saudi 
Arabia, in the Batangas Steel Fabrication Shop and 
in various projects all over the Philippines. On a 
monthly average, 58% of the total work force was 
deployed overseas.

Despite looking to expand locally and in 
other areas, the Company continued to reap 
dividends from its presence in the Middle East, 
particularly the KSA. In 2010, ARCC completed 
the Shuqaiq II Independent Water Power Plant Project 
of the Shuqaiq Water Electric Company under 

Mitsubishi Heavy Industries.
ARCC was also awarded by JGC Arabia 

a package worth US$152 million for the Saudi 
Aramco Manifa Project in Manifa, KSA. This 
project, when completed, is intended to increase 
petroleum output in response to the increasing 
world energy demand.

Other projects of ARCC in Saudi Arabia 
that comprise the backlog for 2010 are additional 
works for the Southern Area Flare System Upgrade 
Project for Saudi Aramco, which are expected to 
be completed by the end of the year; the Qurayyah 
Power Plant Project of Saudi Electricity Co. under 
Mitsubishi Heavy Industries; the National Chevron 
Phillips Ethylene Plant North Plot Project under JGC 
Arabia; and, the Saudi Aramco Mobil Refinery Clean 
Fuels Project under Worley Parsons, which by itself 
is already worth US$200 million.

Outside the KSA, the Company was able to 
complete the works for the Inlet Facilities of the 
Qatargas Liquefied Natural Gas Project in Qatar in 
2010.

The Company is also continuing its plan 
to increase production capacity and improve 
productivity at the Steel Fabrication Division 
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Department of Public Works and Highways; One 
Serendra, Phase 2B and Two Serendra CII Phase 
2B, both for the Ayala Group in Fort Bonifacio 
District, Taguig City; the 39-storey Mandarin 
Square Building of Manila Tower Corporation in 
Binondo, Manila; the 60-storey twin-tower St. 
Francis Shang Towers of the Shang Grand Tower 
Corporation in Mandaluyong City; the Bangko 
Sentral ng Pilipinas Branch Building in Pampanga; 
and the Phoenix Semiconductor Philippines Corp. 
Semiconductor Manufacturing Plant in Clark 
Freeport Zone, Pampanga of Humantech Korea 
Corporation, which was awarded in 2010 and 
completed in 6 months.

For 2010, the Company won the contracts 
for and is currently building the following: 
the RCBC Savings Bank and Corporate Center 
in the Fort Bonifacio District, Taguig City; 
Sun Residences Tower 1 of SM Development 
Corporation in Quezon City; the Beacon Tower 
2 of New Pacific Resources Management, Inc. 
in Makati City; the One Central Building of 
Megaworld Corporation in Makati City, Wind 

plant in Bauan, Batangas through the purchase of 
new machinery and enhancement of the Plant’s 
capabilities.

During the year, the Steel Fabrication 
Division completed the assembly of the Piperack 
Modules for Exxon Mobil Chemical Asia 
Pacific under Stone & Webster Asia, Inc. for the 
Singapore Parallel Train Olefins Recovery Project 
at Jurong Island, Singapore.

Shortly after the completion of the Piperack 
Modules, Stone & Webster Asia, Inc. also 
contracted EEI to do carry-over works related to 
the assembly of these modules in Singapore.  

Other ongoing overseas projects include the 
additional works for the Inco Goro Nickel Mining 
Project in New Caledonia, a special collectivity of 
France.

Locally, EEI completed the following projects: 
the refurbishment and performance improvement 
works on the Electrostatic Precipitator of Boiler Unit 
#1 of American Energy Service – Masinloc Power 
Partners Co., Ltd. in Zambales; Package 4C of the 
NAIA 3 Nichols Skyway Interchange Project for the 
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Residences Towers 1 & 2 in Tagaytay, Cavite, also 
of SM Development Corporation; the Anchor 
Skysuites of Gotamco Realty in Binondo, Manila; 
the Taganito Nickel Mining Project of Nickel Asia 
under the JGC Chiyoda joint venture in Surigao; 
and the Communication, Navigation, and Surveillance/
Air Traffic Management Systems Development 
of the Department of Transportation and 
Communication under Sumitomo Corporation.

Currently under construction are: the Beacon 
Tower 1 of New Pacific Resources Management, 
Inc. in Makati City; the Princeton Residences 
Project of SM Development Corporation in 
Quezon City; the Sun Life Financial Philippines 
Headquarters Project of Sun Life of Canada in 
Fort Bonifacio, Taguig; SM 2ECom Building 
Project of SM Land Incorporated in Pasay City; 
and the Acacia Grove Hotel and Condominiums 
Project of CHMI Hotels and Residences, Inc. in 
Muntinlupa City. 

The Company is also still constructing the 
P2.84 billion Berth 6 of the Manila International 
Container Terminal under a joint venture project 
with Hanjin Heavy Industries & Construction 
Co., Ltd. for the Philippine global port operator 
International Container Terminal Services, Inc.

MICT

BSP
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EQUIPMENT ENGINEERS, INC.

Robustly recovering from the economic 
downturn of 2009, Equipment Engineers, Inc. 
(EE) rebounded with a record setting year in 
2010.

Buoyed by unprecedented sales of UPP 
fuelling products, and the fire safety and 
protection systems projects, net income after tax 
shot up to P51.09 million, EE’s highest ever. This 
figure exceeded by 645.1% the earnings attained 
in 2009.

A very active gasoline retailing industry with 
many players desiring to build more gas service 
stations, coupled with EE’s responsive supply 
chain and inventory management strategies, 
boosted earnings from UPP fuel pipes and other 
components to a record three-and-a-half times 
improvement over the 2009 figure. As a result, 
earnings from the core industrial trading business 
grew almost 80%, leading EE to its banner 
performance.

As forecasted in last year’s report, the 
Department of Health (DOH) project, involving 
25 government hospitals from Tuguegarao, 
Cagayan up north to Davao City down south, was 
also a significant contributor to revenues in 2010.  
Owing to its commendable performance, EE 
obtained an additional contract from the DOH for 
a hospital in Tagum, Davao Del Norte. Together 
with the jobs currently being undertaken, 
the DOH project will continue to support 
performance in 2011.

During the year, major orders for EE’s 

Subsidiaries
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carried products like CETCO bentonite 
waterproofing materials (Voltex and Waterstop) 
were served, directly or via dealers, for various 
property developments like SM Development, 
Filinvest Land, DMCI Homes, Ayala Land, 
Rockwell Land, Robinsons Land, Sun Life 
Financial, Zuellig and Asian Hospital.  Bentomat 
Geosynthetic Clay Liner was also ordered for the 
sanitary landfill projects of IPM Construction.

Other major orders served were BTI rock-
breaking equipment for Philex Mining, Ametek 
power recording instruments for Meralco and the 
National Grid Corporation of the Philippines.  

A robust petroleum industry scenario is 
expected to prevail and positively bolster EE’s 
short to medium term business. This and other 
existing trading markets will be vigorously 
defended through consistent coverage, aggressive 
supply management and sustained dealer network 
build-up.

EE has initiated plans for the acquisition of 
new principal lines and more trading products.  
More importantly, EE is setting up to develop 
businesses that will provide it with new business 
opportunities to realize of its long term growth 
vision.

EEI POwER CORPORATION

The market for power plant and equipment 
services continued to be a reachable goal for EEI 
Power (EEIPC) in 2010.

Revenues were slightly higher as EEIPC 
garnered some success in developing and 
establishing its electrical contracting capabilities 
and presence, with promising new customers 
being obtained. Margins, however, remained 

EEI CORPORATION   Management’s Discussion of Operations



EEI CORPORATION         2010 Annual Report22

constrained by competitive pressures. Higher 
selling expenses led to a net loss of P5.55 million 
in 2010.

Supply contracts and service jobs were 
completed during the year for Lorenzo Shipping, 
Herma Shipyard, San Miguel Yamamura Asia, San 
Miguel Yamamura Packaging, Nestle Philippines, 
NPC Alliance, Isabela La Suerte and a first time 
customer, Catanduanes Power Generation. The 
supply of the generator set requirements of a 
promising new account for its various business 
locations in Metro Manila and nearby provinces 
was successfully obtained.

Towards the end of 2010, a major service job 
was clinched with Dole Philippines, through Phil-
Nippon Kyoei, for the design, engineering, project 
management, testing and commissioning of the 
former’s new 5.2 Megawatt power plant situated at 
its Polomolok, South Cotabato complex.

Another major project was closed with EEI to 
supply, install, test and commission a 2 Megavolt-
Amperes substation in its fabrication shop in 
Batangas.  

These engagements provided encouraging 
momentum and support for the build-up of 
EEIPC’s electrical contracting expertise and 
revenue stream for 2011.

Long term sustainable growth however will 
emanate from realizing EEIPC’s strategic vision 
of having a major presence in the industry’s 
Generation Sector.

Clean coal technology will be aggressively 
explored to take advantage of ideal sites already 
owned by the group and leverage the economies 
of scale the group can provide. Organizational 
realignments and beefing up of management 
ranks and manpower competencies will also be 
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underground tanks for Petron Corporation and 
22 underground tanks for Phoenix Petroleum 
Philippines, Inc.

ECMI also affirmed its leadership in 
construction of various types of tanks for oil 
and chemical companies as well as repair and 
rehabilitation of depots. Among the major clients 
that ECMI serviced during 2010 are Petron 
Corporation, Chevron, Pilipinas Shell Petroleum 
Corporation, Phoenix Petroleum Philippines, 
Inc., Himmel Industries Inc., Asian Chemical 
Corp., and Universal Harvesters, Inc.

ECMI undertook the fabrication and 
installation of 876 meters of 8-inch diameter cargo 
lines for aviation, automotive diesel and motor 
oil gasoline at the Calaca, Batangas Depot for 
Phoenix Petroleum Philippines, Inc. and did the 
major renovation of the ground floor canteen at 
the Pandacan Depot of Pilipinas Shell Petroleum 
Corporation.

During the year, ECMI expanded and 
acquired a 21,000 square meter property 
in Barangay Biga, Silang, Cavite where its 
Fabrication Shop was relocated. ECMI is 
optimistic that with its new shop, it can increase 
its fabrication capacity and will be able to 
participate in larger scale fabrication works.

ECMI is in a unique position in the industry 
as it is very competent in the construction of 
projects and fabrication of equipment for high-risk 
environments. It is one thing to build structures 
for inert substances such as water, and an entirely 
different thing to build such for highly volatile 
and potentially explosive chemicals. ECMI and 
the EEI group have the most credible history 
of competence in this area due to their varied 
experience in such projects here and abroad. The 

implemented, all in pursuit of EEIPC’s strategic 
growth vision to be a recognized player in power 
generation.

All over the globe, there has been the 
inclination to move to alternative energy sources. 
The spike in oil prices and the decline in its supply 
for the future have spurred interest in safe, clean 
and renewable energy.  Prior hindrances to these 
alternatives, such as the required technology and 
the attendant high cost, are being set aside with 
technological advances and people being more 
conscious and deliberate of the overall impact of 
their activities to the environment. Effects of the 
imbalances generated by oil-based machinery 
and power generation are already being felt 
globally. EEIPC’s thrust for 2011 is to leverage 
its core competencies and the capabilities of its 
parent company in construction to push for the 
realization of safe, clean and renewable energy. 
Significant projects involving hydro and solar 
power are already being looked into, with some 
projects in various stages of completion.

EEI CONSTRUCTION 
AND MARINE, INC.

EEI Construction and Marine, Inc. (ECMI) 
generated gross revenues of P205.26 million in 
2010, slightly higher than the P204.09 million it 
realized in 2009. Gross contribution, however, 
decreased by 8.1% compared to 2009, resulting in 
a 9% decrease in net income of P25.60 million in 
2010 compared to the P28.14 million earned the 
previous year.

ECMI, with its expertise in underground 
and aboveground tank fabrication, took on the 
production of 265 units of various capacities of 
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group’s experience and know-how gained from 
its projects in the KSA far surpasses the limited 
exposure of local companies in executing these 
kinds of projects.

Prospects for the coming year remain 
promising because of a healthy backlog position.  
ECMI will continue to serve its existing clients in 
the Petroleum and Chemical Industries as it sees 
expansion in these sectors in 2011. ECMI also 
intends to expand its market coverage to other oil 
companies and to the food, beverage and chemical 
industries.

EEI REALTY CORPORATION

In 2010, EEI Realty Corporation (ERC) 
registered a marked improvement in its marketing 
and financial performance over the previous year.  
ERC registered sales of P132.53 million in 2010, 
representing a 31.4% increase compared to 2009 
sales. This resulted in a Net Income of P14.03 
million, a 53.7% improvement from its 2009 
performance.

At year end, ERC’s Suburbia East project 
in Marikina City recorded cumulative sales 
and reservations of P910 million. Twenty-nine 
housing units, with a total value of over P75 
million, were completed and turned over to their 
respective new owners. At the start of 2011, eleven 

housing units worth P24.5 million were under 
construction. Site development works for Suburbia 
East Phase 3 were also substantially completed 
during this time. 

Sales of the remaining 41 housing units in 
Suburbia East are expected to make up the major 
portion of ERC’s revenues for 2011.

Lot sales of the Tanza, Cavite property in a 
joint venture project with Cottonwood Realty 
Corporation, The Royal Parks at Grosvenor Place, 
totaled P2.45 million. ERC expects to sell more 
than 80 lots under this project in 2011.

ERC also rendered property management 
services for EEI Corporation in leasing out 
condominium units at Kingswood Condominium 
in Makati City and Robinsons Place Residences 
in Ermita, Manila. ERC also managed the turn-
over of 15 condominium units at Fairways Tower, 
Fort Bonifacio and Manggahan Village, Pasig 
City.

GULF ASIA INTERNATIONAL 
CORPORATION (GAIC) AND
GAIC MANPOwER SERVICES, 
INCORPORATED (GAMSI)

Gulf Asia International Corporation (GAIC), 
EEI’s manpower service contracting subsidiary, 
registered a consolidated net income of P19.54 
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million in 2010, a 29.2% drop from the previous 
year’s income of P27.60 million.

GAIC’s net income declined from P13.41 
million to P2.90 million in 2010, mainly due to 
the lingering effects of the global financial crisis in 
major labor markets like Canada, Australia, New 
Zealand, USA and Europe. Revenues from the 
in-house account or EEI projects also fell by 53.3 
% from P28.57 million to P13.33 million.

Major revenues of GAIC came from its 
traditional accounts in Libya, Saudi Arabia, 
United Arab Emirates and Malaysia. There were 
new clients acquired for projects in Singapore, 
Oman and Qatar. Substantial revenues were also 
generated from deployment of workers to various 
EEI projects.

New janitorial services, building maintenance 
services and facilities management contracts were 
acquired during the year which resulted in the 
outstanding performance of GAIC, particularly 
for its outside accounts.

GAIC therefore looks forward to continued 
profitability for 2011. It is expected that the global 
labor market will continue to offer employment 
opportunities for Filipino workers, particularly 
the skilled laborers and professionals, in various 
industries in the next 5 to 10 years. Despite 

disturbances in the Middle East and North Africa, 
the outlook is still very positive as demands 
continue to be strong for Filipino labor. GAIC 
anticipates increased activities in its traditional 
markets.

GAIC will also pursue the supply of 
nurses and other healthcare personnel as part 
of its expansion program. For stronger market 
penetration and wider coverage, GAIC will 
improve on its current marketing activities.

GAMSI – GAIC’s domestic manpower supply 
subsidiary – was a significant contributor to the 
consolidated net income for the year. GAMSI 
registered notable results in net earnings for 2010 
amounting to P16.51 million or a 12.6% increase 
compared to the previous year’s earnings of P14.67 
million despite losing some major accounts during 
the year.

GAMSI is also expected to improve its 
financial performance in 2011 as it plans 
to establish offices in the southern part of 
the Philippines to expand market coverage, 
particularly in Cebu, Bacolod, Cagayan de 
Oro and Davao. GAMSI will also explore new 
business opportunities that will gel with its core 
competencies such as courier services, pest control 
services, trading and franchising businesses.
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Experts say that economic growth for 2011 and 
for the medium term is expected to be sustained, 
though not as outstanding as the growth in 
2010. Consumption is still expected to account 
for the largest portion of GDP and remittances 
will continue to contribute significantly to the 
country’s current account.

Among the growth drivers in the industry 
are acceleration in construction, expansion in 
mining, and recovery of the housing sector.  
There is strong interest in biofuel and renewable 
energy, especially with nuclear energy falling into 
disfavor due to recent catastrophes in Japan and 
the seeming uncontrolled climb of oil prices. The 
government’s Public-Private Partnership projects 
may provide good opportunities for growth for 
many industries, most notably in construction.

The recovery of the domestic construction 
sector appears to be picking up speed. Coming 
into 2011, the Company already had combined 
domestic and foreign contracts amounting P26.59 
billion, 70% of which are overseas projects. This is 
69% higher than total backlog of the Company as 
of the end of 2009.

The political upheavals in the Middle East are 
not expected to impact the operations of EEI in 
the KSA as King Abdullah bin Abdul-Aziz has 
taken preemptive measures to address the needs of 
the Saudi people and has offered benefit programs 
for them of around US$36 billion in terms of cash 

and infrastructure projects. With this in mind, 
ARCC, established in the KSA as a preferred 
contractor for heavy industrial projects, expects an 
increase in its awarded work.

EEI has already established its presence in 
Singapore and Guam. Guam will need workers 
in the medium to long term timeline for the 
construction of the US Naval Base that will be 
transferred from Okinawa, Japan and for various 
military renovation projects as well. There are 
indications that markets affected by the global 
crisis, like Australia and Dubai, are showing 
signs of recovery. Several projects in these areas 
are already being evaluated. The process of 
establishing presence in other countries has also 
been started and may come into fruition soon.

The Company continues to see a huge 
potential for projects in modular fabrication and 
is gearing up for the time when the opportunities 
arise. In addition to the Steel Fabrication Shop in 
Batangas, the Company’s Steel Fabrication Shop 
in Saudi Arabia is already in full swing.

With the known potential projects, 
recruitment and training of personnel will 
continue to be a priority in the coming years.  
The intention is to build up manpower to 
complement the workforce requirements of the 
Company and its clients, both in the domestic and 
overseas markets, when these projects materialize.
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STEWARDSHIP AND
COMMUNITY BUILDING
Responsible behavior towards the community and its stakeholders is fundamental 
to EEI. Safety and Environmental Protection, being one of the core values of the 
organization shows the Company’s commitment to the health and safety of those 
affected by its activities and recognizes its obligation to have minimal, if not zero, 
impact on the environment.

from ensuring safety and health in the workplace, 
also look into establishing good relationships with 
its communities.

In EEI, we would like to ensure that our 
environment is properly utilized, enriched and 
enhanced; that the general health and well-being 
of our people and those in our work areas are 
looked after and prioritized; and, no one and 
nothing is harmed in the conduct of our work.

This, for EEI Corporation, is the true essence 
of sustainability.

BUILDING A GREENER ENVIRONMENT

EEI Corporation is working towards reducing its 
carbon footprint by making more effective use of 
its resources and decreasing its solid waste. The 
Company has programs that deal with the efficient 
consumption of energy, water, paper and other 
office consumables.

In the past year, several office equipment 
and appliances in the EEI offices, such as air 
conditioners and computer monitors, were replaced 

EEI CORPORATION   Stewardship and Community Building

In EEI, profitability cannot be without 
responsibility. Thus, the Company has taken a 
proactive approach in continually improving how 
it conducts its business operations, making sure 
that it responds to the needs of its stakeholders and 
society as a whole. The regular programs, aside
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with more energy efficient units. To reduce the 
use of water, several urinals in comfort rooms 
in the main office were converted to waterless 
ones and an on-going project involves rainwater 
collection for use in washing vehicles and 
watering plants. The Company has already taken 
steps towards a paperless workplace.

Moreover, EEI Corporation takes part 
in activities that contribute to greener living.  
EEI Corporation and Ang Mananampalatayang 
Gumagawa – Skilled Hands Training Center 
Incorporation (AMG-SHTCI) opened the year 
with a tree-planting activity around the AMG 
Facility.

EEI together with the Engineering Combat 
Battalion participated in the 25th International 
Coastal Clean-Up of Fort Bonifacio, Taguig City.

EEI further cultivates its advocacy in the 
preservation of the environment through its 
support of the Bauan Solid Waste Management 
(BSWM) Inc.’s Material Recovery Facility 
and Sanitary Landfill Project. EEI actively 
works with the local government of Bauan in 
its environmental projects and development 
programs.

BUILDING EFFECTIVE 
COMMUNITY RELATIONS

EEI works to make a positive contribution to the 
communities to which it belongs and operates. 
It takes the initiative and provides support to the 
needs of the community in the hope of fostering 
good relationships through continuous interaction, 
mutual respect, and trust.

The company’s involvement in the 
community’s programs is focused on community 

building, education, and health concerns.

Community Building. In response to the 
devastation wrought by typhoon Ondoy, EEI 
and the Energy & Chemicals Group employees 
of Stone & Webster Asia, Inc. (SWAI), working 
at the EEI Fabrication Facility in Batangas, 
teamed up to raise money to help those affected 
by the recent typhoons. The collected monetary 
donation was then presented to the Philippine 
Typhoon Assistance Foundation. 

EEI was instrumental in transporting 
equipment and furniture for the Brothers of the 
La Salle Community from La Salle Greenhills 
(LSGH) and De La Salle University (DLSU) 
to the Jaime Hilario Integrated School-La Salle 
( JHIS-LS) in Bagac, Bataan. JHIS-LS received 
several donations of books and learning materials 
but did not have the appropriate storage facilities 
for these. With the donation of bookshelves and 
cabinets from LSGH and DLSU and through the 
use of EEI’s transport facility, the school now has 
its own Learning Resource Center. 

Another initiative sponsored by EEI, through 
its Steel Fabrication Shop and Stone & Webster 
Asia, Inc., was the donation of office equipment, 
such as executive chairs and tables, photocopying 
machines, scanners, refrigerators, and unused 
office supplies to neighboring schools and barangay 
offices.

Values Promotion. EEI Corporation supported 
the Buhay Rizal Book Donation campaign of 
the Yuchengco Group of Companies (YGC) as it 
handed over 2,159 copies of the Noli Me Tangere 
books to the Batangas National High School. EEI 
had previously donated 2,270 copies of the book 
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to the Caloocan High School. This endeavor aims 
to restore Rizalian Pride among the youth.

Healthy Living. Through its Steel Fabrication 
Division, EEI has once again extended a hand 
to the residents in the communities of Bolo and 
Sta. Maria, Batangas, through a medical and 
dental mission last July 24, 2010. EEI together 
with about 80 medical professionals and volunteer 
nurses offered free medical consultation to about 
300 residents from the two communities. The 
patients were given free medicines donated by EEI 
and the Batangas Provincial Health Office.

Furthermore, EEI in partnership with Pfizer 
conducted free cholesterol and FBS screening for 
EEI employees. This health program, which has 
been running since 2008, is administered twice a 
year and is meant to proactively identify diabetic 
or hypertensive employees.

BUILDING THE FUTURE

As EEI moves forward, becoming stronger 
and more globally-competitive, it maintains its 
commitment to expand its efforts in safeguarding 
the community and the environment. It promises 
to deliver and perform quality works that are 
safe and environmentally sound. It regards 
its commitment to Health, Safety, and the 
Environment as an integral part of its business 
activities.

Accordingly, as part of EEI Corporation’s 80th 
Anniversary activities, it has launched its Going 
Green Program, together with several other 
outreach activities, to take on its responsibility to 
good corporate citizenship, to acknowledge its 
stewardship role towards the environment and its 
resources, and to contribute to a more sustainable 
society.
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EEI is committed to doing business at the highest 
ethical and legal standards and seeks to protect 
the interests and welfare of its shareholders, 
employees, suppliers, customers, and the publics 
that it serves.

In its desire to help promote good governance 
throughout the country, or even beyond, the 
Company recently joined the Good Governance 
Advocates and Practitioners of the Philippines 
(GGAPP), a young and dynamic organization 
committed to the promotion and furtherance of 
good governance principles and practices.

Manual on Corporate Governance

In 2002, the Company adopted a Manual on 
Corporate Governance, in compliance with 
a Memorandum Circular of the SEC. The 
Company has also complied with various 
Corporate Governance Surveys required by the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and/ 
or the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE).
 

Business Conduct and Ethics

In 2003, a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 
was promulgated requiring all officers and 
employees of the Company to conduct themselves 
in accordance with the highest principles of 
business conduct, and to act fairly and ethically at 
all times.

All personnel must respect and obey the laws 
of the cities, municipalities, provinces, and the 
country, including foreign countries where the 
Company operates.

The Code strictly prohibits insider trading and 
bribery.

Everyone should deal fairly with the 
Company’s customers, suppliers, competitors and 
their employees.

Shareholders’ Rights

Each shareholder is entitled to one vote for 
each share of stock standing in his name. Each 

The Company believes that good governance is a function of all corporate citizens, 
especially those that are publicly owned. A good corporate citizen should therefore 
adhere to good governance principles and practices even without state regulation. 
Government initiatives however are welcome to guide or supplement or complement 
those of the individual companies.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
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shareholder also has the right to subscribe to issues 
of common shares of the Company in proportion 
to his shareholdings.

An Investor Relations Officer is tasked with 
the maintenance of a communications system 
through its website and other means whereby 
shareholders are provided with important 
announcements and other information regarding 
the Company. For instance, the annual and 
quarterly financial reports, and other material 
events are filed with the SEC and PSE within the 
prescribed period and are posted in the Company’s 
website for the information of shareholders and 
the general public.

Fraud Policy and Procedures

The corporate fraud policy sets controls that aid in 
the prevention of fraud against the Company. It is 
meant to protect the revenue, property, reputation 
and other assets of EEI and its subsidiaries.

The Internal Audit and Legal departments 
have the primary responsibility for the 
investigation of all suspected fraudulent acts as 
defined in the policy.

Policy on Conflict of Interest

The principal purpose of this Policy is to provide 
guidance to all employees to avoid situations 
where personal interests may conflict with the 
interests of EEI.

Though the Company respects the rights of 
its employees to privacy in their personal affairs, 
all employees should be free from the influence of 
conflicting interest in the conduct of their work.

EEI CORPORATION   Corporate Governance
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Accountability and Audit

The Audit Committee assists the board in 
fulfilling its responsibilities and provides 
oversight to external and internal auditors. The 
scope, duties, and responsibilities of the Audit 
Committee are clearly defined in the Company’s 
Manual on Corporate Governance and Audit 
Committee Charter.

Audit Committee. The Audit Committee 
reviews the financial reporting process, the 
system of internal control and management of key 
business and financial risks, the audit process, and 
the Company’s process for monitoring compliance 
with laws and regulations and its own code of 
business conduct. In performing its duties, the 
Audit Committee maintains effective working 
relationships with the Board, Management, and 
the internal and external auditors.

External Auditor. Sycip Gorres Velayo & 
Company was appointed external auditor 
for the fiscal years 2010 and 2009. Upon the 
recommendation of the Board, the external 
auditor is appointed by the shareholders. The 
external auditor is rotated or the handling 
partner is changed every five years or earlier in 
compliance with SEC regulations.

The main function of the external auditor is 
to facilitate an environment of good corporate 
governance as reflected in the financial records 
and reports of the company, through an expression 
of an opinion on the fairness, in all material 
respects, of such financial records and reports in 
accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards. This objective opinion is based on the 
audits they conduct in accordance with Philippine 
Standards on Auditing.

Internal Auditor. The independent internal audit 
function of the Company is performed by the 
Internal Audit (IA) Group. Among others, the 
IA Group performs an independent appraisal and 
consulting activity that is guided by a philosophy 
of adding value to improve the operations in 
the organization. Its overall objective is to assist 
the CEO, all levels of management, and the 
Audit Committee in the effective discharge of 
their responsibilities. To this end, the IA Group 
furnishes appropriate stakeholders with objective 
analysis, appraisals, recommendations, counsel, 
information, and pertinent comments concerning 
the activities reviewed.

Risk Management

As part of the good governance initiatives of the 
Company, a Risk Management Program was 
initiated in 2009.

Major risks were identified and management 
of the same determined and subsequently 
communicated. The Board oversees progress 
and management of these risks through its Risk 
Management Committee.

New risks brought about by the peculiarities 
of new projects, changes in the market place, 
economic shifts, political upheavals, disasters, 
unusual events and/or probable impending events 
are continually identified and discussed at all levels 
of Management with emphasis on mitigating 
solutions.

The Company’s Risk Management Program is 
continuously being developed in accordance with 
international guidelines (like COSO and ISO 
standards) toward what is considered optimum, 
whereby preservation of shareholders’ value is the 
main consideration when deciding whether to 
take a risk or mitigate it.

EEI CORPORATION   Corporate Governance
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CORPORATE
INFORMATION
CORPORATE OFFICE
12 Manggahan St., Bagumbayan
Quezon City 1110, Philippines
Tel. Nos.: (63-2) 635-0843
               (63-2) 635-0851
Fax No.:  (63-2) 635-0861
E-mail: eeicenter@eei.com.ph
Web: http://www.eei.com.ph

Mailing Address
P.O. Box 287 ACPO
Cubao, Quezon City, Philippines

P.O. Box 7160
Domestic Airport Post Office
Pasay City 3120, Philippines

FABRICATION SHOP
Barangay Sta. Maria, Bauan
Batangas, Philippines
Tel. Nos.: (63-43) 727-1601 to 03 
               (63-43) 727-1271
Fax No.:  (63-43) 727-1727

OVERSEAS JOINT VENTURE
Al Rushaid Construction Co., Ltd.
P.O. Box 31688 Al-Khobar 31952
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Tel. Nos.: (09663) 864-3569  
               (09663) 898-4049
Fax No.:  (09663) 864-6345
E-mail: vagayya@arcc-eei.com

EEI CORPORATION (SINGAPORE) 
PTE. LTD.
18 Boon Lay Way
05-104 TradeHub 21, Singapore 609966
Tel. No.: (65) 6659-9223
Fax No.:  (65) 6659-9220

EEI CORPORATION (GUAM), INC.
356-A Hernan Cortez Street
Hagatña, Guam 96910

EEI NOUVELLE-CALEDONIE SARL
#33 Gabriel Laroque, 
Val Plaisance Noumea, New Caledonia
Tel. No.: 00-687-44-81-19 

SUBSIDIARIES
Equipment Engineers, Inc.
12 Manggahan St., Bagumbayan
Quezon City 1110, Philippines
Tel. Nos.: (63-2) 635-3343
Fax No.:  (63-2) 635-0975
E-mail: hmorelos@eei.com.ph

EEI Power Corporation
12 Manggahan St., Bagumbayan
Quezon City 1110, Philippines
Tel. Nos.: (63-2) 636-6520 
               (63-2) 635-0851 loc. 4102
Fax No.:  (63-2) 635-0975
E-mail: hmorelos@eei.com.ph 

EEI Construction & Marine, Inc.
12 Manggahan St., Bagumbayan
Quezon City 1110, Philippines
Tel. Nos.: (63-2) 636-5366
                (63-2) 635-0843 loc. 4704 (telefax)
Fax. No.: (63-2) 635-0861
               Attn: EEI Marine
E-mail: rrf@eei.com.ph

Fabrication Shop
Lot-5 Maguyam Road, 
Barangay Biga, Silang Cavite

Gulf Asia International Corp.
GAIC Manpower Services, Inc.
Ground Floor Topy Building
#3 Economia St.,  Bagumbayan
Quezon City 1110, Philippines
Tel. Nos.: (632) 633-8608, (632) 637-9220
                (632) 638-4947, (632) 635-7419  
 Fax Nos.: (632) 638-4946
                (632) 635-4770
E-mail: gaic@eei.com.ph

CEBU Office
2nd Floor F. Miranda Bldg.
# 5 F. Ramos St. Cebu City, Philippines
Tel. No.: (6332) 253-4190

CAGAYAN DE ORO Office
Tan’s Apt. Door #2
Captain Vicente Roa St.
Cagayan de Oro City, Philippines
Tel. No.: (638822) 722-796

BACOLOD Office
A.U.G. & Son’s Building
Libertad Extension
Bacolod City, Philippines
Tel. No.: (6334) 433-8189

DAVAO Office
Door #5, 2nd Floor
Goldwin Building, E. Quirino St.
Davao City, Philippines
Tel. No.: (6382) 226-4283

 

EEI Realty Corporation
12 Manggahan St., Bagumbayan
Quezon City 1110, Philippines
Tel. Nos.: (63-2) 634-7192  
               (63-2) 635-0843 loc. 263
Fax No.:  (63-2) 635-0861  
               Attn: EEI Realty
E-mail: eeirealty@eei.com.ph

BANKS AND FINANCIAL 
SERVICES PROVIDERS
Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc.
Bank of Commerce
Bank of the Philippine Islands
BDO Leasing & Finance, Inc.
BNP Paribas
BPI Family Savings Bank
China Banking Corporation
DBS Bank Ltd.
EastWest Banking Corporation
Export and Industry Bank
First Hawaiian Bank
First Malayan Leasing & Finance Corporation
Grepalife Financial, Inc.
Land Bank of the Philippines
Malayan Bank Savings & Mortgage Bank, Inc.
Malayan Insurance Co., Inc.
Malayan Rental Corporation
Maybank Philippines, Inc.
Philippine Business Bank
Philippine Commercial Capital, Inc.
Philippine National Bank
RCBC Capital Corporation
Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation
RCBC Savings Bank
Société Générale Calédonienne de Banque
Sterling Bank of Asia
The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.
The Hong Kong and Shanghai 

Banking Corporation Limited
UCPB Leasing and Finance Corporation
Union Bank of the Philippines
United Coconut Planters Bank

TRUSTEES
Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation

AUDITORS
Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co.
Certified Public Accountants

LEGAL COUNSELS
Poblador, Bautista and Reyes
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITYSTATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITYSTATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITYSTATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY    

FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
 
 
The management of EEI Corporation is responsible for all information and representations contained in the 
consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008.  The consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared in conformity with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) and reflect 
amounts that are based on the best estimates and informed judgment of management with an appropriate 
consideration to materiality. 
 
In this regard, management maintains a system of accounting and reporting which provides for the necessary internal 
controls to ensure that transactions are properly authorized and recorded, assets are safeguarded against unauthorized 
use or disposition and liabilities are recognized. The management likewise discloses to the Company’s audit 
committee and to its external auditor: (i) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls that 
could adversely affect its ability to record, process and report financial data; (ii) material weaknesses in the internal 
controls; and (iii) any fraud that involves management or other employees who exercise significant roles in internal 
controls. 
 
The Board of Directors reviews the consolidated financial statements before such statements are approved and 
submitted to the stockholders of the Company. 
 
Sycip, Gorres, Velayo & Co., the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, has examined the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in the Philippines and 
has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation upon completion of such examination, in its report to the 
Board of Directors and stockholders. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RIZALINO S. NAVARRO  ROBERTO JOSE L. CASTILLO   LEO R. DE CASTRO, JR. 

   Chairman              President         Vice President 
   Board of Directors      & Chief Executive Officer     & Chief Finance Officer



 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ RINDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ RINDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ RINDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORTEPORTEPORTEPORT    
 

 

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors 
EEI Corporation 
No. 12 Manggahan Street 
Bagumbayan, Quezon City 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of EEI Corporation and its subsidiaries, which comprise the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated statements of income, 
statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 2010, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
Auditors’ Responsibility 

 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits 
in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 
Opinion 

 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of EEI Corporation 
and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and their financial performance and their cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2010 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards. 
 

 

 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

 

 

 

Cyril Jasmin B. ValenciaCyril Jasmin B. ValenciaCyril Jasmin B. ValenciaCyril Jasmin B. Valencia    

Partner 
CPA Certificate No. 90787 
SEC Accreditation No. 0782-A 
Tax Identification No. 162-410-623 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-74-2009, 
 June 1, 2009, Valid until May 31, 2012 
PTR No. 2641572, January 3, 2011, Makati City 
March 18, 2011 

 



 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORTINDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORTINDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORTINDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT    

ON SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULESON SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULESON SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULESON SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES 
 
 

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors 
EEI Corporation 
No. 12 Manggahan Street 
Bagumbayan, Quezon City 
 
 
We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the consolidated financial statements of EEI 
Corporation and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 and for the years then ended included in this Form 
17-A and have issued our report thereon dated March 18, 2011. Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an 
opinion on the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The schedules listed in the Index to 
Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. These schedules are presented for purposes of complying with the Securities Regulation Code Rule 
No. 68.1 and SEC Memorandum Circular No. 11, Series of 2008 and are not part of the basic consolidated financial 
statements. These schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
consolidated financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly state in all material respects the financial data required to 
be set forth therein in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. 

 

 

 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

 

 

 
Cyril Jasmin B. Valencia 
Partner 
CPA Certificate No. 90787 
SEC Accreditation No. 0782-A 
Tax Identification No. 162-410-623 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-74-2009, 
 June 1, 2009, Valid until May 31, 2012 
PTR No. 2641572, January 3, 2011, Makati City 
March 18, 2011 



 

EEI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIESEEI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIESEEI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIESEEI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES    

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITIONOF FINANCIAL POSITIONOF FINANCIAL POSITIONOF FINANCIAL POSITION    
 

 

 December 31 

 2010 2009 

ASSETS   

Current Assets (Note 29)   

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 4, 26, 31 and 32) P=979,492,243 P=886,219,954 

Receivables (Notes 5, 31 and 32) 2,568,872,983 2,325,690,703 

Due from related parties (Notes 26, 31 and 32) 83,949,735 331,628,115 

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on  

uncompleted contracts (Note 6) 470,933,751 1,414,538,588 

Inventories (Notes 7 and 16) 433,975,415 447,639,335 

Other current assets (Notes 8, 31 and 32) 194,053,786 283,731,045 

 4,731,277,913 5,689,447,740 

Land and building classified as held for sale (Notes 11 and 12) – 33,862,454 

  Total Current Assets 4,731,277,913 5,723,310,194 

Noncurrent Assets (Note 29)   

Investments in associate and joint venture (Note 9) 1,008,196,172 729,762,175 

Available-for-sale securities (Notes 10, 31 and 32) 130,403,421 143,780,688 

Property, plant and equipment (Notes 11 and 16) 1,063,410,406 738,195,677 

Investment properties (Notes 12, 14, and 34) 336,437,398 300,593,619 

Deferred tax assets (Note 25) 110,326,857 117,803,712 

Other noncurrent assets (Notes 13, 26, 27, 31 and 32) 509,214,901 463,895,197 

  Total Noncurrent Assets 3,157,989,155 2,494,031,068 

 P=7,889,267,068 P=8,217,341,262 

 

 

 

(Forward) 



 

 

 

 

 

 December 31 

 2010 2009 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY   

Current Liabilities (Notes 29 and 32)   

Bank loans (Notes 14, 26 and 31) P=239,900,000 P=1,174,617,298 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Notes 15 and 31) 1,835,675,436 1,459,753,787 

Income tax payable (Note 25) 104,978,029 138,552,362 

Due to related parties (Notes 26 and 31) 141,799,186 18,484,047 

Customers’ deposits 49,320,478 45,413,173 

Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on  

uncompleted contracts (Note 6) 1,250,658,413 1,450,888,383 

Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 16, 26 and 31) 480,953,274 143,333,334 

  Total Current Liabilities 4,103,284,816 4,431,042,384 

Noncurrent Liabilities (Notes 29 and 32)   

Long-term debt - net of current portion  

(Notes 16, 26 and 31) 13,666,666 478,678,905 

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 25) 5,274,886 5,748,395 

Other noncurrent liabilities (Notes 13, 26, 27 and 33) 25,761,039 46,020,832 

  Total Noncurrent Liabilities 44,702,591 530,448,132 

  Total Liabilities 4,147,987,407 4,961,490,516 

 

Equity (Note 32)   

Capital stock (Note 17)   

 Authorized - 2,000,000,000 shares   

 Common shares - P=1 par value   

 Issued and subscribed P=1,053,265,596 P=1,053,265,596 

 Subscription receivable (16,864,210) (16,864,210) 

 1,036,401,386 1,036,401,386 

Additional paid-in capital 477,037,443 477,028,378 

Cumulative translation adjustment (Note 9) (42,196,043) 24,883,726 

Retained earnings (Notes 30 and 35) 2,269,963,551 1,716,438,665 

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities (Note 10) 3,794,114 4,819,381 

Treasury stock (3,720,790) (3,720,790) 

  Total Equity 3,741,279,661 3,255,850,746 

 P=7,889,267,068 P=8,217,341,262 

   
 

 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOMECONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOMECONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOMECONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME    
 

 

 

 Years Ended December 31 

 2010 2009 2008 

REVENUE (Note 29)    
Construction contracts P=5,199,523,455 P=3,999,132,323 P=5,766,328,870 
Services 1,387,708,027 2,040,054,406 3,111,635,408 
Merchandise sales 167,870,900 127,077,721 122,096,515 
Real estate sales 132,526,856 100,818,792 190,362,769 

 6,887,629,238 6,267,083,242 9,190,423,562 
Equity in net earnings of associate and joint venture 

(Note 9) 321,059,746 530,362,860  631,166,417 
Interest income (Notes 4, 23, 26 and 29) 68,879,191 71,826,639 55,194,740 
Other income (Notes 24 and 29) 117,294,741 147,546,306 237,160,169 

 7,394,862,916 7,016,819,047 10,113,944,888  

COSTS (Note 29)    
Construction contracts (Notes 11, 12, 18, 22 and 27) 4,356,761,092 3,342,596,100 5,275,528,017 
Services (Notes 19 and 27) 1,215,257,661 1,845,274,302 2,870,032,806 
Merchandise sales (Notes 11, 12, 20, 22 and 27) 113,211,081 119,180,654 102,938,275 
Real estate sales 98,621,076 73,950,724 147,744,885 

 5,783,850,910 5,381,001,780 8,396,243,983 

SELLING AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
(Notes 11, 12, 21, 22, 26 and 29) 734,364,996 628,718,968 628,052,482 

FINANCE COSTS AND OTHER  
EXPENSES - Net (Note 29)    

Interest expense - bank loans (Note 26) 58,388,971 186,526,457 215,175,821 
Interest expense - long term debt (Note 26) 33,249,300 23,603,713 43,061,936 
Foreign exchange (gain) loss - net (Note 32) (131,686,659) 35,913,273 15,015,342 

 (40,048,388) 246,043,443 273,253,099 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX (Note 29) 916,695,398 761,054,856 816,395,324 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX  
(Notes 25 and 29)    

Current 252,527,024 210,806,322 327,691,298 
Deferred 7,003,346 (12,955,979) (17,629,504) 

 259,530,370 197,850,343 310,061,794 

NET INCOME (Notes 28 and 29) P=657,165,028 P=563,204,513 P=506,333,530 

Earnings Per Share - Basic and Diluted  
(Note 28) P=0.6342 P=0.5435 P=0.4886 

    

 

 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMCONSOLIDATED STATEMCONSOLIDATED STATEMCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOMEENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOMEENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOMEENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    
 

 

 

 Years Ended December 31 

 2010 2009 2008 

NET INCOME P=657,165,028 P=563,204,513 P=506,333,530 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)    

Cumulative translation adjustments (Note 9) (67,079,769) 33,631,584 68,245,340 

Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities (Note 10) (1,025,267) (142,847) (6,242,103) 

 (68,105,036) 33,488,737 62,003,237 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P=589,059,992 P=596,693,250 P=568,336,767 

    

 

 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITYITYITYITY    
 

 

 
Capital Stock 

(Note 17) 

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital 

Cumulative 
Translation 
Adjustment 

(Note 9) 

Retained 
Earnings 

(Notes 30 and 35)
Treasury 

Stock 

Unrealized 
Gain on  

Available-for- 
Sale Securities 

(Note 10) Total 

 For the Year Ended December 31, 2010 

Balances at beginning of year P=1,036,401,386 P=477,028,378 P=24,883,726 P=1,716,438,665 (P=3,720,790) P=4,819,381 P=3,255,850,746 

Net income – – – 657,165,028 – – 657,165,028 

Other comprehensive income – – (67,079,769) – – (1,025,267) (68,105,036) 

Total comprehensive income – – (67,079,769) 657,165,028  (1,025,267) 589,059,992 
Changes in subscription receivables – 9,065 – – – – 9,065 
Dividends declared – – – (103,640,142) – – (103,640,142) 

Balances at end of year P=1,036,401,386 P=477,037,443 (P=42,196,043) P=2,269,963,551 (P=3,720,790) P=3,794,114 P=3,741,279,661 

 For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 

Balances at beginning of year P=1,036,401,386 P=476,996,795 (P=8,747,858) P=1,256,874,296 (P=3,720,790) P=4,962,228 P=2,762,766,057 

Net income – – – 563,204,513 – – 563,204,513 

Other comprehensive income – – 33,631,584 – – (142,847) 33,488,737 

Total comprehensive income – – 33,631,584 563,204,513 – (142,847) 596,693,250 
Changes in subscription receivables – 31,583 – – – – 31,583 
Dividends declared – – – (103,640,144) – – (103,640,144) 

Balances at end of year P=1,036,401,386 P=477,028,378 P=24,883,726 P=1,716,438,665 (P=3,720,790) P=4,819,381 P=3,255,850,746 

 For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 

Balances at beginning of year P=1,036,251,282 P=476,270,490 (P=76,993,198) P=802,353,425 (P=3,720,790) P=11,204,331 P=2,245,365,540 

Net income – – – 506,333,530 – – 506,333,530 

Other comprehensive income – – 68,245,340 – – (6,242,103) 62,003,237 

Total comprehensive income – – 68,245,340 506,333,530 – (6,242,103) 568,336,767 
Changes in subscription receivables 150,104 726,305 – – – – 876,409 
Dividends declared – – – (51,812,659) – – (51,812,659) 

Balances at end of year P=1,036,401,386 P=476,996,795 (P=8,747,858) P=1,256,874,296 (P=3,720,790) P=4,962,228 P=2,762,766,057 

        

 

 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 



 

EEI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIESEEI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIESEEI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIESEEI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES    

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWSASH FLOWSASH FLOWSASH FLOWS    
 

 Years Ended December 31 

 2010 2009 2008 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Income before income tax  P=916,695,398 P=761,054,856 P=816,395,324 
Adjustments for:    
 Depreciation and amortization (Notes 11, 12 and 22) 135,360,581 112,824,363 100,056,622 
 Interest expense (Notes 14 and 16) 91,638,271 210,130,170 258,237,757 
 Equity in net earnings of associate and joint  

venture (Note 9) (321,059,746) (530,362,860) (631,166,417) 
 Effects of exchange rates (83,740,559) 71,654,055 11,811,972 
 Interest income (Note 23) (68,879,191) (71,826,639) (55,194,740) 
 Gain on sale of available-for-sale securities (Note 24) (11,943,500) (430,000) − 
 Movement in retirement assets and liabilities  

(Notes 13 and 27) (2,434,162) (687,793) 12,542,534 
 Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment  

(Notes 11 and 24) (1,805,570) (8,255,565) − 
 Gain on sale of investment properties (Notes 12 and 24) (65,774) − − 

Operating income before changes in working capital  653,765,748 544,100,587 512,683,052 
 Decrease (increase) in:    
  Receivables (228,926,314) (209,915,277) (479,337,305) 
  Due from related parties (144,762,669) 115,965,857 89,491,824 
  Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 

on uncompleted contracts 1,015,444,690 37,831,698 (275,733,000) 
  Inventories 13,663,920 37,211,699 80,999,042 
  Other current assets 89,677,259 73,102,443 99,879,611 
 Increase (decrease) in:    
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses 384,147,232 (233,720,162) 432,607,897 
  Due to related parties 155,254,153 12,438,711 (1,597,200) 
  Customers’ deposits 3,907,305 2,482,673 992,522 
  Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings 

on uncompleted contracts (201,178,782) 263,781,177 83,966,400 

Net cash generated from operations 1,740,992,542 643,279,406 543,952,843 
Interest received 68,879,191 67,513,161 62,781,577 
Interest paid (100,277,308) (214,591,791) (255,620,092) 
Income taxes paid (286,101,357) (283,854,898) (215,403,319) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,423,493,068 212,345,878 135,711,009 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from disposal of:     
 Investment properties (Note 12) 542,441 − (7,061,314) 
 Property, plant and equipment 23,560,246 15,393,716 11,065,496 
 Available-for-sale securities (Note 10) 24,695,500 2,911,180 − 
 Investments in associate and joint ventures − − 2,000,000 
Net reductions in (additions to):    
 Property, plant and equipment (Note 11) (546,387,831) (297,781,122) (321,147,273) 
 Available-for-sale securities (Note 10) (400,000) − (12,672,501) 
 Other noncurrent assets (33,209,222) (50,438,529) (63,138,378) 
Dividends received (Note 9) 392,441,049 – 551,933,761 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (138,757,817) (329,914,755) 160,979,791 

(Forward) 



 

 

 Years Ended December 31 

 2010 2009 2008 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from:    
 Bank loans (Note 14) P=2,043,333,333 P=2,797,316,525 P=2,188,960,835 
 Long-term debt (Note 16) 17,666,666 300,000,000 − 
Payment of:    
 Bank loans (Note 14) (2,978,050,631) (2,965,599,227) (1,851,435,885) 
 Long-term debt (Note 16) (145,058,965) (145,707,748) (28,318,594) 
Dividends paid (Note 30) (103,640,142) (103,640,144) (51,812,659) 
Decrease in other noncurrent liabilities (29,936,113) (46,431,548) (27,006,016) 
Receipt from subscription receivables 9,065 31,583 876,409 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (1,195,676,787) (164,030,559) 231,264,090 

EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,213,825 (11,534,278) (7,264,157) 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND  
CASH EQUIVALENTS 93,272,289 (293,133,714) 520,690,733 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 886,219,954 1,179,353,668 658,662,935 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT  
END OF YEAR P=979,492,243 P=886,219,954 P=1,179,353,668 

    

 

 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 



 

EEI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIESEEI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIESEEI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIESEEI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES    

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSNOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSNOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSNOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 

1. Corporate Information 
 

EEI Corporation (the Parent Company) is a stock corporation incorporated on April 17, 1931 under the laws of the Philippines. 
The Parent Company is a subsidiary of House of Investments, Inc., which is also incorporated in the Philippines. The ultimate 
parent company of EEI Corporation and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the Group) is Pan Malayan Management and 
Investment Corporation (PMMIC). The registered office address of the Parent Company is No. 12 Manggahan Street, 
Bagumbayan, Quezon City. 

 
The Parent Company’s shares of stock are listed and are currently trading at the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). 

 
The Parent Company is engaged in general contracting and construction equipment rental. The Parent Company’s subsidiaries, 
associate and joint venture are mainly involved in the provision of manpower services, construction, trading of construction 
equipment and parts, power generation, steel fabrication and real estate. 

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group were approved and authorized for issue by its Board of Directors 
(BOD) on March 18, 2011. 

 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Basis of Preparation 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for available-for-sale 
(AFS) securities which have been measured at fair value. The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Philippine Peso (P=), which is also the Parent Company’s functional currency. Except as indicated, all amounts are rounded off to 
the nearest peso. 

 
Statement of Compliance 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards (PFRS). 

 
Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 
The accounting policies adopted by the Group are consistent with those of the previous financial years except for the adoption of 
the following new and amended PFRS, Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) and Philippine Interpretations of International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) which were adopted as of January 1, 2010, which have no material effect 
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

• PFRS 2, Share-based Payment (Amendment) - Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions 
The amendment to PFRS 2 clarified the scope and the accounting for group cash-settled share-based payment transactions.   

 

• PFRS 3 (Revised), Business Combinations, and PAS 27 (Amended), Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
PFRS 3 (Revised) introduces significant changes in the accounting for business combinations occurring after becoming effective.  
Changes affect the valuation of non-controlling interest, the accounting for transaction costs, the initial recognition and subsequent 
measurement of a contingent consideration and business combinations achieved in stages. These changes will impact the amount of 
goodwill recognized, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs and future reported results.  

 

• PAS 27 (Amended) requires that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control) is accounted for as a 
transaction with owners in their capacity as owners. Therefore, such transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will it give 
rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the 
loss of control of a subsidiary. The changes by PFRS 3 (Revised) and PAS 27 (Amended) affect acquisitions or loss of control of 
subsidiaries and transactions with non-controlling interests after January 1, 2010. 

 

• PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (Amendment) - Eligible Hedged Items 
The amendment clarifies that an entity is permitted to designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow variability of a 
financial instrument as a hedged item.  This also covers the designation of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in particular situations. 

 

• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 17, Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners 
This interpretation provides guidance on accounting for arrangements whereby an entity distributes non-cash assets to shareholders 
either as a distribution of reserves or as dividends.  The interpretation has no effect on either, the financial position or performance of 
the Group. 



 

Improvements to PFRSs 
Improvements to PFRSs, an omnibus of amendments to standards, deals primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and 
clarifying wording. There are separate transitional provisions for each standard. Except as otherwise indicated, the Group does not 
expect the adoption of these improvements to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements. 

 
Improvements to PFRSs 2008 

• PFRS 5, Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, clarifies that when a subsidiary is classified as held for sale, all 
its assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale, even when the entity remains a non-controlling interest after the sale 
transaction. The amendment is applied prospectively and has no impact on the financial position or the financial performance 
of the Group. 

 
Improvements to PFRSs 2009 

• PFRS 5, Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, clarifies that the disclosures required in respect of 
noncurrent assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale or discontinued operations are only those set out in PFRS 5. 
The disclosure requirements of other PFRSs only apply if specifically required for such noncurrent assets or discontinued 
operations. 

 

• PFRS 8, Operating Segments, clarifies that segment assets and liabilities need only be reported when those assets and liabilities 
are included in measures that are used by the chief operating decision maker. 

 

• PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, states that only expenditure that results in recognizing an asset can be classified as a cash flow 
from investing activities. This amendment will impact among others, the presentation in the statement of cash flows of the 
contingent consideration on the business combination completed in 2010 upon cash settlement. 

 

• PAS 36, Impairment of Assets, clarifies that the largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill, acquired in a business combination, 
is the operating segment as defined in PFRS 8 before aggregation for reporting purposes.   

 
Other amendments resulting from the 2009 Improvements to PFRSs to the following standards did not have any impact on the 
accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Group. 

 

• PFRS 2, Share-based Payment 

• PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 

• PAS 17, Leases 

• PAS 38, Intangible Assets 

• PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 

• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives 

• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 16, Hedge of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 
 

Future Changes in Accounting Standards 
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s consolidated financial statements are listed below.  
This listing is of standards and interpretations issued, which the Group reasonably expects to be applicable at a future date. The 
Group intends to adopt those standards when they become effective. Except as otherwise indicated, the Group does not expect the 
adoption of these new and amended standards and interpretations to have a significant impact on its financial statements. 

 

• PAS 24 (Amended), Related Party Disclosures 
The amended standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011. It clarifies the definition of a 
related party to simplify the identification of such relationships and to eliminate inconsistencies in its application. The amended 
standard introduces a partial exemption of disclosure requirements for government-related entities. Early adoption is permitted 
for either the partial exemption for government-related entities or for the entire standard. 

 

• PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation (Amendment) - Classification of Rights Issues 
The amendment to PAS 32 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after February 1, 2010 and amended the definition 
of a financial liability in order to classify rights issues (and certain options or warrants) as equity instruments in cases where such 
rights are given pro rata to all of the existing owners of the same class of an entity’s non-derivative equity instruments, or to 
acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount in any currency. 

 

• PAS 12, Income Taxes (Amendment) - Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets 
The amendment to PAS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012. It provides a practical 
solution to the problem of assessing whether recovery of an asset will be through use or sale.  It introduces a presumption that 
recovery of the carrying amount of an asset will normally be through sale. 



 

 

• PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Amendments) - Disclosures-Transfers of Financial Assets 
The amendments to PFRS 7 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011. The amendments will allow 
users of financial statements to improve their understanding of transfer transactions of financial assets (for example, 
securitizations), including understanding the possible effects of any risks that may remain with the entity that transferred the 
assets. The amendments also require additional disclosures if a disproportionate amount of transfer transactions are undertaken 
around the end of a reporting period. 

 

• PFRS 9, Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement 
PFRS 9, as issued in 2010, reflects the first phase of the work on the replacement of PAS 39 and applies to classification and 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in PAS 39. The standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013. In subsequent phases, hedge accounting and derecognition will be addressed. The 
completion of this project is expected in early 2011. The adoption of the first phase of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the 
classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets. The Group will quantify the effect in conjunction with the 
other phases, when issued, to present a comprehensive picture. 

 

• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14 (Amendment) - Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement 
The amendment to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011, 
with retrospective application. The amendment provides guidance on assessing the recoverable amount of a net pension asset.  
The amendment permits an entity to treat the prepayment of a minimum funding requirement as an asset. 

 

• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15, Agreement for Construction of Real Estate 
This interpretation, effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012, covers accounting for revenue and 
associated expenses by entities that undertake the construction of real estate directly or through subcontractors. The 
interpretation requires that revenue on construction of real estate be recognized only upon completion, except when such 
contract qualifies as construction contract to be accounted for under PAS 11, Construction Contracts, or involves rendering of 
services in which case revenue is recognized based on stage of completion. Contracts involving provision of services with the 
construction materials and where the risks and reward of ownership are transferred to the buyer on a continuous basis will also 
be accounted for based on stage of completion. 

 

• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 19 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2010. The interpretation 
clarifies that equity instruments issued to a creditor to extinguish a financial liability qualify as consideration paid. The equity 
instruments issued are measured at their fair value. In case that this cannot be reliably measured, the instruments are measured 
at the fair value of the liability extinguished. Any gain or loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

 

Improvements to PFRSs 2010 
Improvements to PFRSs is an omnibus of amendments to PFRSs. The amendments have not been adopted as they become effective 
for annual periods on or after either July 1, 2010 or January 1, 2011. The Group, however, expects no impact from the adoption of 
these amendments on its consolidated financial statements: 

 

• PFRS 3, Business Combinations 

• PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

• PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 

• PAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes 

 

 

 



 

Basis of Consolidation and Investments in Subsidiaries 
The consolidated financial statements include the Parent Company and the following companies that it controls: 

 

 
Effective Percentage 

of Ownership 

 

Place of Incorporation 
2010 2009 

EEI (BVI) Limited (EEI BVI) and Subsidiaries British Virgin Islands 100 100 

 Clear Jewel Investments, Ltd. (CJIL) British Virgin Islands 100 100 

  EEI Corporation (Singapore) Pte. Ltd Singapore 100 – 

 EEI Nouvelle-Caledonie SARL New Caledonia 100 100 
 Nimaridge Investments, Limited and 

 Subsidiary British Virgin Islands 100 100 

  EEI (PNG) Ltd. Papua New Guinea 100 100 

EEI Corporation (Guam), Inc. United States of America 100 100 

EEI Construction and Marine, Inc. (EEI Marine) Philippines 100 100 

EEI Power Corporation (EEI Power) Philippines 100 100 

EEI Realty Corporation (EEI Realty) Philippines 100 100 

EEI Subic Corporation Philippines 100 100 

Equipment Engineers, Inc. (EE) Philippines 100 100 
Gulf Asia International Corporation (GAIC) 

GAIC Professional Services, Inc. (GAPSI) 
GAIC Manpower Services, Inc. (GAMSI) 

Philippines 
Philippines 
Philippines 

100 
100 
100 

100 
100 
100 

Bagumbayan Equipment & Industrial Products, Inc. Philippines 100 100 

Philmark, Inc. Philippines 100 100 

Philrock Construction and Services, Inc. Philippines 100 100 

 

EEI Corporation (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., EEI Subic Corporation, EEI (PNG), Ltd., and EEI Corporation (Guam), Inc. were 
incorporated on January 25, 2010, September 14, 2009, October 26, 2009 and August 25, 2009, respectively. 

 
Basis of Consolidation from January 1, 2010 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to 
be consolidated until the date when such control ceases. All intragroup balances, transactions, unrealized gains and losses resulting 
from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full. 
 
Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the noncontrolling interest even if that results in a deficit balance. A change in the 
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.  If the Group loses control 
over a subsidiary, it: 
 

• Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary 

• Derecognizes the carrying amount of any noncontrolling interest 

• Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity 

• Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received 

• Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained 

• Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss 

• Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income to profit or loss or 
retained earnings, as appropriate. 

 
Basis of Consolidation prior to January 1, 2010 
The above mentioned requirements were applied on a prospective basis. Acquisition of noncontrolling interests, prior to January 1, 
2010, was accounted for using the parent entity extension method, whereby, the difference between the consideration and the 
book value of the share of the net assets acquired were recognized in goodwill. These transactions were not restated and were 
carried forward. 

 
Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar 
circumstances.  Intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in the consolidation. 



 

Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in 
value. 

 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
Date of Recognition 
The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated statement of financial position when it becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the 
time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized on the settlement date. The Group follows 
the settlement date accounting where an asset to be received and liability to be paid are recognized on the settlement date and 
derecognition of an asset that is sold and the recognition of a receivable from the buyer are recognized on the settlement date. 

 
Initial Recognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities  
All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value. Except for securities at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVPL), the initial measurement of financial assets includes transaction costs. The Group classifies its financial assets in the following 
categories: financial assets at FVPL, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, AFS securities, and loans and receivables. The Group 
classifies its financial liabilities into financial liabilities at FVPL and other financial liabilities. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the investments were acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market.  Management determines the 
classification of its investments at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every 
reporting date. 

 

The Group has no financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL and HTM investments as at December 31, 2010 and 2009. 
 

Determination of Fair Value 
The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their quoted market price or dealer 
price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. When 
current bid and asking prices are not available, the price of the most recent transaction is used since it provides evidence of the 
current fair value as long as there has not been a significant change in economic circumstances since the time of the transaction.  

 
For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation 
techniques. Valuation techniques include discounted cash flow methodologies, comparison to similar instruments for which market 
observable prices exist, and other relevant valuation models. 

 
Derivatives recorded at FVPL 
The Parent Company entered into derivative transactions. Derivative instruments (including embedded derivatives) are carried and 
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. 

 
Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives during the year that do not qualify for hedge accounting were 
taken directly to the “Foreign exchange gain (loss) - net” account in the consolidated statement of income. 

 
Embedded derivatives that are bifurcated from the host financial and non-financial contracts are also accounted for at FVPL. 

 
An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if all of the following conditions are 
met: a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristic of 
the host contract; b) a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a 
derivative; and c) the hybrid or combined instrument is not recognized at fair value through profit or loss. The Parent Company 
assesses whether embedded derivatives are required to be separated from the host contracts when the Parent Company first becomes 
a party to the contract. Reassessment of embedded derivatives is only done when there are changes in the contract that significantly 
modifies the contractual cash flows that would otherwise be required. 

 
Day 1 Profit 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different to the fair value from other observable current market transactions in 
the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group 
recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value (a Day 1 profit) in the consolidated statement of income 
unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset.  In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the 
difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the 
inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the Group determines the appropriate 
method of recognizing the Day 1 profit amount. 

 



 

HTM Investments 
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are classified as HTM investments when 
the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold it to maturity. After initial measurement, HTM investments are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method, less impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in 
interest income in the consolidated statement of income. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income in finance costs. The Group did not have any HTM investments during the years ended December 31, 2010 
and 2009. 

 
Loans and Receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Such assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.  
Amortized cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and include fees that are an integral part of 
the effective interest rate and transaction costs. Long-term receivables are valued using the discounted cash flow methodology.  
Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the loans and receivables are derecognized or 
impaired, as well as through the amortization process. 

 
The Group’s loans and receivables principally include cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables (including retention receivables), 
tax refund from tax authorities, consultancy fees, advances to officers and employees, reimbursable taxes, other receivables, due 
from related parties, miscellaneous deposits, receivables from retirement fund of Parent Company and long term receivables (see 
Notes 4, 5, 13 and 26). 

 
AFS Securities  

 AFS securities are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as AFS or are not classified in any of the three other 
categories. After initial recognition, AFS securities are measured at fair value with gains or losses being recognized as a separate 
component of the equity until the investment is derecognized or until the investment is determined to be impaired at which time 
the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in the equity is included in the consolidated statement of income. AFS securities 
which are expected to be sold within twelve months from the reporting date are classified under current assets. Otherwise, these are 
classified as noncurrent assets. 

 
 The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organized financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market bid 

prices at the close of business on the reporting date. For investments where there is no active market, except for investments in 
unquoted equity securities, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length 
market transactions, reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same, discounted cash 
flow analysis and option pricing models. In the absence of a reliable basis of determining fair value, investments in unquoted equity 
securities are carried at cost less allowance for impairment losses, if any. 

 
The Group’s AFS securities represent investments in quoted and unquoted golf, club and equity shares (see Note 10). 

 

Other Financial Liabilities 
Other financial liabilities are non-derivative financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. These liabilities are carried at cost or amortized cost in the consolidated statement of financial position. Amortization is 
determined using effective interest rate method. 

 
This accounting policy relates to the consolidated statement of financial position caption “Bank loans”, “Accounts payable and 
accrued expenses”, “Due to related parties” and “Long-term debt”. 

 
Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the liabilities are derecognized or impaired, as well as 
through the amortization process. 

 
Impairment of Financial Assets 

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and 
that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that 
can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include indications that a borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 

 



 

Assets Carried at Amortized Cost 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate 
(that is, the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced either directly 
or through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be recognized in the consolidated statement of income.  
Loans and receivables, together with the associated allowance accounts, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future 
recovery and all collateral has been realized. 

 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in 
the consolidated statement of income, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the 
reversal date. 

 
Assets Carried at Cost 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value cannot be 
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. 

 
AFS Securities 
For AFS securities, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired. 
 
In the case of equity investments classified as AFS securities, this would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of 
the investments below its cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between 
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income - is removed from equity and recognized in the consolidated statement of 
income. Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the consolidated statement of income. Increases in fair 
value after impairment are recognized directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

 
Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
Financial Assets 

 A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognized when: 
(a) the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; (b) the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, 
but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or (c) 
the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (i) has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or (ii) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset. 

 
Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group’s 
continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could 
be required to repay. 

 
Financial Liabilities 

 A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or has expired. Where an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing 
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated statement of 
income. 

 

Offsetting 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position 
when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and the Group intends to either settle on a net basis, or 
to realize the asset and the liability simultaneously. 

 
Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). Cost includes purchase price and other costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition. Cost of inventories is generally determined using the moving-average method, except for land 
inventory of EEI Realty, which is accounted for using the specific identification method. NRV is the selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion of inventories and the estimated costs necessary to sell.  



 

Other Current Assets 
 Other current assets pertain to other resources controlled by the Group as a result of past events and from which future economic 

benefits are expected to flow to the Group within the reporting period. 
 
 Land and Building Classified as Held for Sale 

Land and building classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. These are 
classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.  
This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate 
sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a 
completed sale within one year from the date of classification.  

 
Assets once classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortized but subject to impairment. 

 
If the Group has classified an asset as held for sale, but the criteria for it to be recognized as held for sale are no longer met, the 
Group shall cease to classify the asset as held for sale. 

 
Investments in Associate and Joint Venture 
The Group has 49% investment in Al-Rushaid Construction Company Limited (ARCC) which is incorporated and based in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and is currently accounted for as an associate. It also has 50% investment in ECW Joint Venture, Inc. 
(ECW) which is currently accounted for as a joint venture. 

 
 The reporting dates and the accounting policies of the associate and joint venture conform to those used by the Group for like 

transactions and events in similar circumstances. 
 

Investments in associate and joint venture which are jointly controlled entities are accounted for under the equity method of 
accounting. Under this method, the cost of investment is increased or decreased by the equity in the associate and joint venture’s 
net earnings or losses since the date of acquisition and reduced by dividends received. Unrealized intercompany profits are 
eliminated up to the extent of the proportionate share thereof. 

 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization and impairment loss, if any. 

 
The initial cost of property, plant and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties, taxes and any directly 
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditures incurred after the 
assets have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, are normally charged to operation in the year in which the 
costs are incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future 
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and equipment beyond its originally assessed 
standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of property, plant and equipment. When assets are 
retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and their related accumulated depreciation and amortization and any impairment in value 
are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited to or charged current operations. 

 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 
 

 Number of years 

Machinery, tools and construction equipment  5 – 10 
Buildings and improvements 20 
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 2 – 10 
Transportation and service equipment 4 

 
Amortization of leasehold improvements is computed over the estimated useful life of the improvement or term of the lease, 
whichever is shorter. 

 
Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under construction and is stated at cost. This includes cost of 
construction, plant and equipment and other direct costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated until such time that the 
relevant assets are ready for their intended use. 

 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of income in the year the asset is derecognized. 

 



 

The asset’s residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation and amortization are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each financial year-end. 

 
Investment Properties 
Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any, including transaction costs. The 
carrying amount includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the 
recognition criteria are met. 

 
Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal 
of an investment property are recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the year of retirement or disposal. 

 
Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment property to 
owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated 
under property, plant and equipment up to the date of change in use. 

 
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 15 to 20 years. 

 
Impairment of Non-financial Assets 
For property, plant and equipment, investments in associate and joint venture and investment properties, the Group assesses at each 
reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual 
impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, and is determined for an 
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of 
assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down 
to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In 
determining fair value less cost to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transaction can be 
identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices 
for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators. 

 
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may 
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since 
the last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortization, 
had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated statement of 
income unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 

 
After such reversal, the depreciation and amortization charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying 
amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

 
Revenue and Cost Recognition 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be 
reliably measured. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as 
principal or agent. In arrangements where the Group is acting as principal to its customers, revenue is recognized on a gross basis.  
However, if the Group is acting as an agent to its customers, only the amount of net commission retained is recognized as revenue.  
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

 
Construction Contracts 
Revenue from construction contracts are recognized using the percentage of completion method of accounting. Under this 
method, revenues are generally measured on the basis of estimated completion of the physical proportion of the contract work.  
Revenue from labor supply contracts with project management and supervision are recognized on the basis of man-hours spent. 

 
Contract costs include direct materials, labor costs and indirect costs related to contract performance. Provisions for estimated losses 
on uncompleted contracts are recognized immediately when it is probable that the total contract costs will exceed the total contract 
revenues. The amount of such loss is determined irrespective of: (a) whether or not work has commenced on the contract; (b) the 
stage of completion of contract work; or (c) the amount of profits expected to arise on other contracts. Changes in contract 
performance, contract conditions and estimated profitability, including those arising from penalty provisions and final contract 
settlements which may result in revisions to estimated costs and gross margins, are recognized in the year in which the changes are 
determined. 



 

The asset “Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts” represents total contract costs incurred and 
estimated earnings recognized in excess of amounts billed. The liability “Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on 
uncompleted contracts” represents billings in excess of total contract costs incurred and estimated earnings recognized. Contract 
retentions are included in the trade receivable account, which is shown as part of the receivables account in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 

 
Service Income 
Revenue is recognized as the related services are rendered. 

 
Merchandise Sales 
Revenue from merchandise sales is normally recognized when the buyer accepts delivery and when installation and inspection are 
complete. However, revenue is recognized immediately upon the buyer’s acceptance of delivery when the installation process is 
simple in nature. 

 
Real Estate Sales 
Revenue on sale of raw parcels of land with no future obligation to develop the property is recognized using the full accrual 
method. 

 
Sale of developed lots and residential units is accounted for using the full accrual method of accounting. Under this method, 
revenue from sale of real estate should be recognized when (a) the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the property; (b) the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually 
associated with ownership nor effective control over the property sold; (c) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; (d) it is 
probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and (e) the costs incurred or to be 
incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
If any of the criteria under the full accrual method is not met, the deposit method is applied until all the conditions for recording a 
sale are met. Pending recognition of sale, cash received from buyers is recognized as deposit from customers presented under the 
“Customers’ deposits” account in the liabilities section of the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 
Interest Income 
Revenue is recognized as interest accrues (using the effective interest rate method that is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset). 

 
Foreign Currency-denominated Transactions and Translation 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (P=), which is the Parent’s functional and presentation 
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the consolidated financial 
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. 

 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency closing rate as at the reporting date. All 
differences are taken to consolidated statement of income. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

 
The functional currency of the Group’s subsidiary, EEI-BVI and Subsidiaries, and its associate, ARCC, are United States Dollar and 
Saudi Arabia Riyal, respectively. As at reporting date, the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into the 
presentation currency of the Parent Company (the Philippine Peso) at the closing rate as at the reporting date, and the consolidated 
statement of income accounts are translated at monthly weighted average exchange rate. The exchange differences arising on the 
translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity. 

 
Upon disposal of a foreign subsidiary, the deferred cumulative amount recognized in other comprehensive income relating to that 
particular foreign operation is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

 
Retirement Cost 
The Group’s retirement cost is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method. Under this method, the current 
service cost is the present value of retirement benefits payable in the future with respect to services rendered in the current period. 

 

The asset or liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position with respect to defined benefit pension plans is 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date less fair value of plan assets, if any, together with any 
adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains and losses and past service cost. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rate on government bonds that have terms to maturity 
approximating the terms of the related retirement liability. 



 

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to 
income when the net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses at the end of the previous period exceeded 10% of the 
higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date. These gains or losses are recognized over the 
expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the retirement plan. 

 
The past service cost is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. If 
the benefits are already vested immediately following the introduction of, or changes to, a pension plan, past service cost is 
recognized immediately. 

 
The defined benefit liability is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit obligation and actuarial gains and losses not 
recognized reduced by past service cost not yet recognized and the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be 
settled directly. If such aggregate is negative, the asset is measured at the lower of such aggregate and the aggregate of cumulative 
unrecognized net actuarial losses and past service cost and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of 
refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the plan. 

 
Income Tax 
Current Income Tax 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and the tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantially enacted as at reporting date. 

 

Deferred Income Tax 
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible 
temporary differences, carryforward benefit of unused tax credits from excess minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over regular 
corporate income tax (RCIT) and net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the deductible temporary differences and carryforward of unused tax credits from excess MCIT and 
NOLCO can be utilized. 

 
Deferred tax liabilities are not provided on non-taxable temporary differences associated with investments in domestic subsidiaries, 
associate, and interest in joint venture. With respect to investments in foreign subsidiaries, associate and interest in joint venture, 
deferred tax liabilities are recognized except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be used. Unrecognized deferred tax 
assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will 
allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realized or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted as at the reporting date. 

 
Deferred income tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are 
recognized in correlation to the underlying transactions either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same entity and the same taxation authority. 

 
Leases 

 The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception date 
whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to 
use the asset.  

 
 A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 
 

(a) there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement; 
(b) a renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the 

lease term; 
(c) there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or 
(d) there is substantial change to the asset. 

 



 

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change in circumstances gave rise 
to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c), or (d) and at the date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b). 

 
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are 
capitalized at inception of the lease at the fair value of the lease property, or if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are reflected in consolidated statement of income. 

 
Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term, if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. 

 
Operating leases of the Group represent those under which substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the assets remain 
with the lessor. Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 

 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when: (a) the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) where, as a result of a past event; (b) 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and; (c) a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 
Contingencies 

 Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial 
statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. A contingent asset is not 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements when an inflow of 
economic benefits is probable. 

 
Stock Option Plan 
No benefit expense is recognized relative to the shares issued under the stock options plan. When the shares related to the stock 
options plan are subscribed, these are treated as capital stock issuances. The stock option plan is exempt from PFRS 2. 

 
Events after the Reporting Period 

 Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the reporting date (adjusting events) are 
reflected in the notes to consolidated financial statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed when 
material. 

 
 Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share 

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income applicable to common shares by the weighted average number of 
common shares issued and outstanding during the year, after retroactive adjustments for any subsequent stock dividends. Diluted 
earnings per share, if applicable, is computed by dividing net income applicable to common shares by the weighted average number 
of common shares issued and outstanding during the year after giving effect to assumed exercise of stock options and retroactive 
effect of stock dividends declared. 

 

Segment Reporting 
The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of services provided, with each 
segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets. Financial information on 
business segments is presented in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.  

 
Equity 
The Group records common stocks at par value and additional paid-in capital in excess of the total contributions received over the 
aggregate par values of the equity shares. Incremental costs incurred directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown in 
equity as a deduction from proceeds, net of tax. When any member of the Group purchases the Group’s capital stock (treasury 
shares), the consideration paid, including any attributable incremental costs, is deducted from equity attributable to the Group’s 
equity holders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any 
consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related tax effects is included in equity. 

 
Retained earnings represent accumulated earnings of the Group less dividends declared. 

 

Expenses 
“Selling and administrative expenses” are expenses that arise in the course of the ordinary operations of the Group. These usually 
take the form of an outflow or depletion of assets such as cash and cash equivalents, inventories, supplies, property, plant and 
equipment and investment properties. Expenses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income as incurred. 



 

 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates 
 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the Group to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and 
contingent liabilities. Future events may occur which can cause the assumptions used in arriving at those estimates to change. The 
effects of any changes in estimates will be reflected in the consolidated financial statements as they become reasonably determinable.  
Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 
The following presents a summary of these significant accounting judgments and estimates: 

 
Judgments 
Fair Value of AFS Securities 
The Group treats AFS securities as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost 
or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires 
judgment. The Group treats ‘significant’ generally as 20% or more and ‘prolonged’ as greater than 6 months for quoted securities.  
In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, including the future cash flows and the discount factors of these securities. The fair 
value of the quoted AFS securities as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 amounted to P=17.7 million and P=17.9 million, respectively  
(see Note 10). 

 

Financial Assets not Quoted in an Active Market 
The Group classifies financial assets by evaluating, among others, whether the asset is quoted or not in an active market. Included in 
the evaluation on whether a financial asset is quoted in an active market is the determination on whether quoted prices are readily 
and regularly available, and whether those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length 
basis. 

 
Operating Lease - Group as Lessee 
The Group has entered into various commercial property leases on its administrative office locations and fabrication facilities with 
EEI Retirement Fund, Inc., a related party. The Group is also leasing its various construction machineries and equipment and 
company vehicles from Malayan Rental Corporation (MRC), a related party, and United Coconut Planters Bank (UCPB) Leasing 
and Finance Corporation. The Group assessed that it does not have the risk and rewards of ownership of the leased asset primarily 
because the lease term is not for the major part of the economic life of the asset and at the inception of the lease, the present value 
of the minimum lease payments does not amount to at least substantially all of the fair value of the leased asset. The future 
minimum rental payables under non-cancellable operating lease as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 amounted to P=8.4 million and 
P=17.2 million, respectively (see Note 33). 

 
Finance Lease - Group as Lessee 
The Group has entered into lease agreements with First Malayan Leasing and Finance Corporation (FMLFC), a related party, 
UCPB Leasing and Finance Corporation and Bank of the Philippine Islands (BPI) Leasing Corporation for the lease of its various 
construction machineries and equipment and company vehicles. The Group has determined that it acquires all the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership of the leased asset and therefore is accounted for as a finance lease. The future minimum lease payments 
as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 amounted to P=27.5 million and P=63.4 million, respectively. The present value of minimum 
lease payments under finance lease as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 amounted to P=21.2 million and P=31.2 million, respectively 
(see Note 33). 

 
Estimates 
Revenue and Cost Recognition 
The Group’s revenue recognition policies require management to make use of estimates and assumptions that may affect the 
reported amounts of revenues and costs. The Group’s construction revenue is recognized based on the percentage of completion 
measured principally on the basis of the estimated completion of a physical proportion of the contract work. The revenue and 
related cost recognized for 2010, 2009 and 2008 are based on management’s best estimate and have met the requirements set forth 
in PAS 11. 

 
As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts amounted to   
P=0.5 billion and P=1.4 billion, respectively, and billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts 
amounted to P=1.3 billion and P=1.5 billion, respectively (see Note 6). 

 
Estimating Realizability of Claims and Change Orders 
The Group maintains as claims and change order assets when it is probable that these assets will be realized. The amount and timing 
of recorded expenses would differ if the Group made different estimates. 

 



 

Estimating Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
The Group maintains allowances for doubtful accounts at a level considered adequate to provide for potential uncollectible 
receivables. The level of this allowance is evaluated by management on the basis of factors that affect the collectibility of the 
accounts. These factors include, but are not limited to, the length of the Group’s relationship with the customer, the customer’s 
payment behavior and other known market factors. The Group reviews the age and status of receivables and identifies accounts that 
are to be provided with allowances on a continuous basis. 

 
The amount of timing and recorded expenses for any period would differ if the Group made different judgments or utilized 
different estimates. An increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts would increase recorded operating expenses and decrease 
current assets. 

 
The outstanding balance of receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 amounted to     
P=2.6 billion and P=2.3 billion, respectively (see Note 5).  

 
Estimating NRV of Inventories 
The Group maintains allowance for inventory losses at a level considered adequate to reflect the excess of cost of inventories over 
their NRV. NRV of inventories are assessed regularly based on the prevailing selling prices of inventories less the estimated cost 
necessary to sell. Increase in the NRV will increase the carrying amount of inventories but only up to the extent of their original 
acquisition costs. 

 
The carrying values of inventories as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 amounted to P=434.0 million and P=447.6 million, respectively 
(see Note 7). 

 
Valuation of Unquoted AFS Equity Investments 
Unquoted equity investments are carried at cost.  Unquoted AFS equity securities amounted to P=113.2 million and P=125.9 million 
as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively (see Note 10). 

 
Estimating Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Properties 
The Group estimated the useful lives of its property, plant and equipment and investment properties based on the period over 
which the assets are expected to be available for use. The Group reviews annually the estimated useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment and investment properties based on factors that include asset utilization, internal technical evaluation, technological 
changes, environmental and anticipated use of the assets tempered by related industry benchmark information. It is possible that 
future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought about by changes in the factors 
mentioned. A reduction in estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and investment properties would increase 
recorded depreciation and amortization expense and decrease noncurrent assets. 

 
As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the net book value of depreciable property, plant and equipment amounted to P=1.1 billion and 
P=0.7 billion, respectively (see Note 11). 

 
As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the net book value of depreciable investment properties amounted to P=85.5 million and  
P=80.5 million, respectively (see Note 12). 

 
Non-financial Asset Impairment 
The Group assesses impairment on non-financial assets (i.e., property, plant and equipment, investments in associate and joint 
venture and investment properties) whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a non-
financial asset may not be recoverable. The factors that the Group considers important which could trigger an impairment review 
include the following: 

 

• Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results; 

• Significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall business; and 

• Significant negative industry or economic trends. 
 

The Group did not recognize any impairment loss for these assets for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008. 

 

The carrying values of the Group’s non-financial assets follow: 
 

 2010 2009 

Property, plant and equipment (Note 11) P=1,063,410,406 P=738,195,677 
Investments in associate and joint venture (Note 9) 1,008,196,172 729,762,175 
Investment properties (Note 12) 336,437,398 300,593,619 

 



 

Retirement Benefits 
The determination of the obligation and cost of retirement benefits are dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by 
actuaries in calculating such amounts. Those assumptions include, among others, discount rates, expected returns on plan assets and 
salary increase rates. In accordance with PAS 19, actual results that differ from the Group’s assumptions are accumulated and 
amortized over future periods and therefore, generally affect the recognized expense and recorded obligation in such future periods.  
While the Group believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in the actual experience or 
significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the pension and other retirement obligations. 

 
Retirement asset (included in other noncurrent assets) amounted to P=21.1 million and P=9.0 million as at December 31, 2010 and 
2009, respectively (see Notes 13 and 27).  Retirement liability (included in other noncurrent liabilities) amounted to P=4.3 million 
and P=14.0 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively (see Notes 13 and 27). 
 
Deferred Tax Assets 
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of deferred taxes of each entity in the Group at each reporting date and reduces deferred 
tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax assets to be utilized.   
 
Deferred tax assets recognized amounted to P=110.3 million and P=117.8 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively 
(see Note 25). 
 
Deferred tax assets of certain subsidiaries amounting to P=83.7 million and P=109.2 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively, were not recognized because management assessed that there is no available taxable profit to which these can be 
applied (see Note 25). 

 

Contingencies 
The Group is currently involved in various proceedings.  The estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of these claims has 
been developed in consultation with outside counsel handling the Group’s defense in these matters and based upon an analysis of 
potential results. The Group currently does not believe that these proceedings will have material adverse effect on its consolidated 
financial position. It is possible, that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in the estimates or in the 
effectiveness of the strategies relating to these proceedings (see Note 33). 

 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

This account consists of: 
 2010 2009 

Cash on hand P=3,922,446 P=1,264,439 
Cash in banks (Note 26) 677,681,538 695,021,056 
Short-term investments (Note 26) 297,888,259 189,934,459 

 P=979,492,243 P=886,219,954 

 
Cash in banks earns interest at the respective bank deposit rates.  Short-term investments are made for varying periods up to three 
months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term investment 
rates.  Interest income from cash in bank and short-term investments amounted to P=13.3 million, P=10.0 million and P=8.5 million 
for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 23). 

 

5. Receivables 
 

This account consists of: 
 2010 2009 

Trade receivables (including retention receivable on construction 
contracts of P=609.1 million in 2010 and P=492.6 million in 
2009) P=2,329,481,192 P=2,137,542,663 

Advances to suppliers and subcontractors 303,497,749 108,953,868 
Consultancy fee 39,491,432 88,710,721 
Tax refund from tax authorities 35,315,940 93,292,447 
Reimbursable taxes 20,699,363 18,000,906 
Advances to officers and employees 16,845,324 19,490,083 
Other receivables 86,268,842 82,798,128 

 2,831,599,842 2,548,788,816 
Less allowance for doubtful accounts 262,726,859 223,098,113 

 P=2,568,872,983 P=2,325,690,703 

 



 

Movements in the allowance for doubtful accounts follow: 
 

 2010 

 
Trade 

 receivables 

Advances to 
 suppliers and 
subcontractors 

Other 
 receivables Total 

Balance at beginning of year P=165,658,122 P=23,436,822 P=34,003,169 P=223,098,113 
Provisions during the year - net (Note 21) 51,007,742 3,968,673 4,684,569 59,660,984 
Write-offs (19,861,246) – (170,992) (20,032,238) 

Balance at end of year P=196,804,618 P=27,405,495 P=38,516,746 P=262,726,859 

Individually impaired P=196,804,618 P=27,405,495 P=38,516,746 P=262,726,859 
Collectively impaired – – – – 

Total P=196,804,618 P=27,405,495 P=38,516,746 P=262,726,859 

Gross amount of receivables individually 
determined to be impaired, before 
deducting any assessed impairment 
allowance P=196,804,618 P=27,405,495 P=38,516,746 P=262,726,859 

 
 2009 

 
Trade 

 receivables 

Advances to 
 suppliers and 

 subcontractors 
Other 

 receivables Total 

Balance at beginning of year P=172,605,600 P=19,436,822 P=34,003,169 P=226,045,591 
Provisions during the year - net (Note 21) 10,293,472 4,000,000 – 14,293,472 
Write-offs (17,240,950) – – (17,240,950) 

Balance at end of year P=165,658,122 P=23,436,822 P=34,003,169 P=223,098,113 

Individually impaired P=165,658,122 P=23,436,822 P=34,003,169 P=223,098,113 
Collectively impaired – – – – 

Total P=165,658,122 P=23,436,822 P=34,003,169 P=223,098,113 

Gross amount of receivables individually 
determined to be impaired, before 
deducting any assessed impairment 
allowance P=165,658,122 P=23,436,822 P=34,003,169 P=223,098,113 

 
 

6. Costs, Estimated Earnings and Billings on Uncompleted Contracts 
 

The details of the costs, estimated earnings and billings on uncompleted contracts follow: 
 

 2010 2009 

Total costs incurred P=17,364,818,497 P=20,105,436,452 

Add:  estimated earnings 2,786,989,826 2,142,634,351 

 20,151,808,323 22,248,070,803 
Less total billings (including unliquidated advances  
 from contract owners of P=1.3 billion and  
 P=0.8 billion in 2010 and 2009, respectively)  (20,931,532,985) (22,284,420,598) 

 (P=779,724,662) (P=36,349,795) 

 
The foregoing balances are reflected in the consolidated statements of financial position under the following accounts: 

 

 2010 2009 

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of  
 billings on uncompleted contracts P=470,933,751 P=1,414,538,588 

Billings in excess of costs and estimated  
 earnings on uncompleted contracts (1,250,658,413) (1,450,888,383) 

 (P=779,724,662) (P=36,349,795) 

 



 

 

7. Inventories 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2010 2009 

At cost:   

 Land and land development (Note 16) P=223,339,787 P=235,696,369 

 Subdivision lots and contracted units for sale 138,986,637 146,828,806 

 Raw lands 44,916,103 46,846,228 

 407,242,527 429,371,403 

At NRV:   

 Merchandise (Note 16) 17,134,556 16,334,808 

 Spare parts and supplies 6,578,586 1,042,742 

 Construction materials 3,019,746 890,382 

 26,732,888 18,267,932 

 P=433,975,415 P=447,639,335 

 
 The related costs of inventories recorded at NRV follow: 
 

 2010 2009 

Merchandise P=62,633,936 P=68,700,479 
Construction materials 11,591,547 2,798,414 
Spare parts and supplies 8,423,564 9,319,258 

 P=82,649,047 P=80,818,151 

 
The actual inventories written off in 2009 amounted to P=17.9 million.  There were no inventories written off in 2010. 

 
Land included in inventories relates to real estate development projects being undertaken by EEI Realty, either on its own or with 
other parties, as follows: 

 
a. On April 24, 1998, EEI Realty entered into a joint venture (JV) agreement with Robinson’s Homes, Inc. (RHI) to contribute 

certain parcels of land to the JV for development by RHI into a residential subdivision. Under the JV agreement, the share of 
EEI Realty and RHI on the saleable lots shall be 40% and 60%, respectively. 

 

EEI Realty granted RHI the exclusive right to construct housing units on EEI Realty’s share of the saleable lots from the JV 
project and construction of the housing units shall be solely for RHI’s account. EEI Realty also granted RHI the exclusive 
marketing rights over its share of the saleable lots from the JV project.  EEI Realty shall reimburse RHI for marketing and 
administration expense of 10% of the lot selling price deductible from EEI Realty’s share on every lot sold. 

 
On July 11, 2005, EEI Realty and RHI mutually agreed to reduce the JV area from 72.79 hectares to 13.98 hectares. The 
share of EEI Realty and RHI on the saleable lots shall be 25% and 75%, respectively, starting May 1, 2005. The JV area is still 
being managed by RHI, while the remaining area has been turned over to EEI Realty. 

 
In consideration of EEI Realty’s entering into the JV Agreement, RHI paid EEI Realty P=50.0 million as noninterest-bearing 
cash advance. The cash advance shall be liquidated using the proceeds from sale of the lots allocated to EEI Realty. In 2000, 
the JV started selling developed lots, the proceeds of which were deducted from the cash advance. As at December 31, 2010, 
2009 and 2008, the outstanding balance of the cash advance, which is shown as part of accounts payable and accrued expenses 
account in the consolidated statements of financial position, amounted to P=32.4 million, P=32.4 million and P=31.1 million, 
respectively (see Note 15). 

 
Certain parcels of land and land development of EEI Realty (included in inventories) were collateralized against the long term 
debt of the Parent Company with outstanding balances of P=133,333,334 and P=266,666,669 as at December 31, 2010 and 
2009, respectively (see Note 16). 



 

 
b. EEI Realty has an ongoing project in Suburbia East, Marikina. The master plan for the 98,009 square meters property project 

was completed and the development permit application for the subdivision plan was approved on September 14, 2000 by the 
city government of Marikina. On May 2, 2002, the Housing and Land Use Regulatory Board (HLURB) issued a Certificate 
of Registration and License to Sell to EEI Realty for the sale of saleable lots in Suburbia East Phase I. The Phase I 
development works have been completed. On May 30, 2003, HLURB issued a certificate of Registration and License to Sell 
for the sale of saleable lots in Phase II.  Development works for Phase II is completed in July 2007. On November 29, 2008, 
HLURB issued a certificate of Registration and License to Sell for the sale of saleable lots in Phase III.  Phase III development 
is still ongoing. 

 
c. The amended Memorandum of Agreement dated April 19, 1999 between EEI Realty and Greenfield provides for the 

following: 
 

• Sale of nine parcels of land with a total area of 133,550 square meters by EEI Realty to Greenfield. Payment terms for the 
land sold include turnover of certain developed lots from the nine parcels of land.  In 2003, a total of 11 saleable lots from 
the unsold inventory of Greenfield’s developed lots valued at P=48.2 million were transferred to 
EEI Realty as partial settlement. 

 

• Contribution by EEI Realty of parcels of land, with a total area of 111,906 square meters, as EEI Realty’s participating 
interest in a JV project with Greenfield. Under the terms of the JV agreement, EEI Realty’s net land owner’s interest shall 
be in the form of developed lots for the residential component and golf club shares for the golf course component, and 
shall be allocated at 30% for EEI Realty and 70% for Greenfield. 

 
d. On August 17, 2009, EEI Realty entered into an agreement with Cottonwood Realty Corporation for the building of 

residential housing units on the lots owned by EEI Realty Corporation. Under the terms of the JV agreement, the Company 
will contribute approximately 6,400 square meters located at Grosvenor’s Place, Brgy. Tanauan, Tanza, Cavite. Upon signing 
of the JV agreement, Cottonwood Realty Corporation shall advance a total cash equivalent to 20% of the minimum lot price 
valued at P=3,190 per square meter for the total 200 lots of EEI Realty. Cottonwood shall also execute Deed of Assignment in 
favor of EEI Realty and the corresponding Letter of Guaranty to HDMF/PAGIBIG covering the latter’s take out for the 
house and lot for the 200 lots of EEI Realty. EEI Realty shall also pay Cottonwood 10% of the total lot price as marketing 
commission deductible from the 80% releases of HDMF/PAGIBIG. Cottonwood shall arrange and ensure that the said 80% 
take out by the HDMF/PAGIBIG for the lot portion shall be payable in the name of EEI Realty and paid by PAGIBIG 
directly to EEI Realty. 

 

There were no capitalized borrowing costs in 2010 and 2009. 
 

 

8. Other Current Assets 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2010 2009 

Input value-added tax (VAT) P=91,892,613 P=99,587,738 
Prepaid taxes 44,839,517 117,342,682 
Miscellaneous deposits 36,010,142 40,452,341 
Prepaid expenses 12,101,053 16,756,723 
Supplies and others 9,210,461 9,591,561 

 P=194,053,786 P=283,731,045 

 
Prepaid taxes represent mainly of the Group’s creditable withholding taxes, tax credit certificates and VAT subsidy checks (VSC).  
VSC pertains to tax subsidy granted to the Parent Company in connection with the Subic-Clark-Tarlac Expressway Project. 

 
The Group provided allowance for impairment on its miscellaneous deposits account amounting to P=1.0 million in 2010  
(see Note 21). 



 

 

9. Investments in Associate and Joint Venture 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2010 2009 

Acquisition cost:   
 Balance at beginning and end of year P=28,222,815 P=28,222,815 

Accumulated equity in net earnings:   
 Balance at beginning of year 726,171,276 588,249,465 
 Equity in net earnings for the year  321,059,746 530,362,860 
 Dividends  – (392,441,049) 

 Balance at end of year 1,047,231,022 726,171,276 

Subtotal 1,075,453,837 754,394,091 
Equity in cumulative translation adjustment (67,257,665) (24,631,916) 

 P=1,008,196,172 P=729,762,175 

 
The change in equity in cumulative translation adjustment represents exchange differences arising from the translation of financial 
statements of the foreign operations, ARCC, whose functional currency is the Saudi Arabian Riyal. 

 
The investments in associate and joint venture relate to the following associate and joint venture: 

 
 Effective percentage of ownership 

 2010 2009 

Joint venture - ECW Joint Venture, Inc. (ECW) 50 50 
Associate - ARCC (operations in Saudi Arabia) 49 49 

 
ARCC is an associate and engaged in electro-mechanical work, industrial plants construction and related works. 

 
 

Below are the summarized financial information relating to the Group’s share in its associate and joint ventures: 
 

 2010 

 ARCC ECW 

Current assets P=1,778,899,058 P=11,813,456 
Noncurrent assets 1,314,142,055 – 

 Total assets P=3,093,041,113 P=11,813,456 

Current liabilities P=1,795,554,667 P=21,199 
Noncurrent liabilities 333,212,227 – 

 Total liabilities P=2,128,766,894 P=21,199 

Revenue P=3,789,037,699 P=– 
Cost and expenses (3,467,977,953) – 

Net income P=321,059,746 P=– 

 

 2009 

 ARCC ECW 

Current assets P=3,042,148,194 P=11,813,456 
Noncurrent assets 1,198,624,877 – 

 Total assets P=4,240,773,071 P=11,813,456 

Current liabilities P=3,027,900,612 P=21,199 
Noncurrent liabilities 156,735,998 – 

 Total liabilities P=3,184,636,610 P=21,199 

Revenue P=7,733,222,073 P=– 
Cost and expenses (7,202,859,213) – 

Net income P=530,362,860 P=– 

 
 The Group’s share on the net income of ARCC is subject to 20% Saudi Arabian income taxes. 
 



 

 

10. Available-for-sale Securities 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2010 2009 

Quoted shares P=17,241,866 P=17,858,708 
Unquoted shares 113,161,555 125,921,980 

 P=130,403,421 P=143,780,688 

 
Rollforward analysis of this account follows: 

 
 2010 2009 

Balance at beginning of year P=143,780,688 P=146,404,715 
Acquisitions 400,000 – 
Disposals (12,752,000) (2,481,180) 
Loss recognized in consolidated statement  

of income – (3,306,175) 
Gain (loss) recognized in other comprehensive income (1,025,267) 3,163,328 

 P=130,403,421 P=143,780,688 

 
As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the balance of unrealized gain on AFS securities amounted to P=3.8 million and P=4.8 million, 
respectively. 

 
The loss recognized in the consolidated statement of income in 2009 is included in the “Selling and Administrative Expenses” 
account under “Others” (see Note 21).  This loss came from the redemption of quoted equity shares. 

 

 

11. Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

The rollforward analysis of this account follows: 

 

 2010 

 

Machinery, 
Tools and 

Construction 
Equipment 

(Notes 16 and 33)

Land, 
Buildings and 
Improvements 

(Note 16) 

Furniture, 
Fixtures, 

and Office 
Equipment 

Transportation 
and Service 
Equipment 

(Note 33) 
Construction 
In Progress Total 

Cost       
At beginning of year P=1,238,602,366 P=165,724,834 P=227,032,771 P=113,836,744 P=49,155,585 P=1,794,352,300 
Additions 384,499,801 39,124,579 25,290,851 5,432,571 92,040,029 546,387,831 
Retirements/disposals (Note 24) (118,078,705) (19,521,755) (3,888,127) (13,517,302) − (155,005,889) 
Transfers 30,533,873 14,928,893 157,358 − (45,620,124) − 
Reclassifications/adjustments (60,367,144) (8,771,334) 4,245,844 (8,357,197) − (73,249,831) 

At end of year 1,475,190,191 191,485,217 252,838,697 97,394,816 95,575,490 2,112,484,411 

Accumulated depreciation and 
amortization       

At beginning of year 811,665,873 38,407,448 125,144,583 80,938,719 − 1,056,156,623 
Depreciation and amortization 

(Note 22) 80,450,788 4,698,564 37,837,172 7,555,231 − 130,541,755 
Retirements/disposals (Note 24) (105,881,557) (14,031,107) (3,599,799) (12,701,932) − (136,214,395) 
Reclassifications/adjustments (11,376,889) (1,929,646) 6,206,643 5,689,914 − (1,409,978) 

At end of year 774,858,215 27,145,259 165,588,599 81,481,932 − 1,049,074,005 

Net Book Value P=700,331,976 P=164,339,958 P=87,250,098 P=15,912,884 P=95,575,490 P=1,063,410,406 

 



 

 

 2009 

 

Machinery, 
Tools and 

Construction 
Equipment 

(Notes 16 and 33) 

Land, 
Buildings and 

Improvements 
(Note 16) 

Furniture, 
Fixtures, 

and Office 
Equipment Power Plant 

Transportation 
and Service 
Equipment 

(Note 33) 
Construction 

In Progress Total 

Cost        
At beginning of year P=991,994,870 P=123,782,450 P=148,620,255 P=40,653,590 P=111,283,352 P=118,904,606 P=1,535,239,123 
Additions 108,182,534 5,482,556 79,587,974 − 3,580,500 100,947,558 297,781,122 
Retirements/disposals (Note 24) (100,557,697) − (1,876,830) (40,653,590) (9,576,827) − (152,664,944) 
Transfers 115,311,701 10,000,893 1,472,763 − 43,911,222 (170,696,579) − 
Reclassifications/adjustments 123,670,958 65,812,037 (771,391) − (35,361,503) − 153,350,101 
Reclassification of land and  
 building classified as held  
 for sale − (39,353,102) − − − − (39,353,102) 

At end of year 1,238,602,366 165,724,834 227,032,771 − 113,836,744 49,155,585 1,794,352,300 

Accumulated depreciation 
and amortization        

At beginning of year 682,666,421 44,831,140 100,652,641 40,275,590 84,977,346 − 953,403,138 
Depreciation and amortization 

(Note 22) 72,623,519 5,696,325 24,325,859 − 7,609,348 − 110,255,051 
Retirements/disposals (Note 24) (93,797,546) − (1,876,830) (40,275,590) (9,576,827) − (145,526,793) 
Reclassifications/adjustments 150,173,479 (6,629,369) 2,042,913 − (2,071,148) − 143,515,875 
Reclassification of land and  
 building classified as held  
 for sale − (5,490,648) − − − − (5,490,648) 

At end of year 811,665,873 38,407,448 125,144,583 − 80,938,719 − 1,056,156,623 

Net book value P=426,936,493 P=127,317,386 P=101,888,188 P=− P=32,898,025 P=49,155,585 P=738,195,677 

 

In 2009, EEI Marine decided to dispose its land and building in Pasig.  Management believes that the disposal of these properties is 
expected to be completed in 2010. Correspondingly, the Group reclassified these land and building from property, plant and 
equipment to land and building classified as held for sale. 

 
In 2010, the sale of land was cancelled. EEI Marine then demolished the building with the remaining net book value of P=2.9 million, 
which was charged to depreciation expense upon demolition.  The land amounting to P=30.9 million that was previously classified as 
noncurrent asset held for sale was reclassified to investment properties account (see Note 12). 

 

In 2010, EEI Marine acquired land in Cavite and constructed a new building for its operations.  This land was used as collateral for 
the real estate mortgage loan obtained from Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation (RCBC), an entity under common control. 

 
 

12. Investment Properties 
 

The rollforward analysis of this account follows: 
 

 2010 

 

Land Held 
for Capital 

Appreciation 
(Note 14) 

Condominium 
Units and 

Parking Slots Total 
Cost    
Balance at beginning of year P=220,051,064 P=89,392,311 P=309,443,375 
Additions (Note 34) – 10,240,000 10,240,000 
Reclassification from land classified as held for sale 

(Note 11) 30,899,272 – 30,899,272 
Disposal (Note 24) – (650,000) (650,000) 

Balance at end of year 250,950,336 98,982,311 349,932,647 

Accumulated depreciation and amortization    
Balance at beginning of year – 8,849,756 8,849,756 
Depreciation and amortization (Note 22) – 4,818,826 4,818,826 
Disposal – (173,333) (173,333) 

Balance at end of year – 13,495,249 13,495,249 

Net book value P=250,950,336 P=85,487,062 P=336,437,398 

 



 

 

 2009 

 

Land Held 
for Capital 

Appreciation 
(Note 14) 

Condominium 
Units and 

Parking Slots Total 

Cost    
Balance at beginning of year P=213,689,064 P=19,405,911 P=233,094,975 
Additions (Note 34) 6,362,000 69,986,400 76,348,400 

Balance at end of year 220,051,064 89,392,311 309,443,375 

Accumulated depreciation and amortization    
Balance at beginning of year – 6,280,444 6,280,444 
Depreciation and amortization (Note 22) – 2,569,312 2,569,312 

Balance at end of year – 8,849,756 8,849,756 

Net book value P=220,051,064 P=80,542,555 P=300,593,619 

 

Investment properties represent various parcels of land, condominium units and parking slots held for capital appreciation and 
rental, respectively. 

 
In 2009, Equipment Engineers, Inc. received from a customer certain parcels of land as settlement of the latter’s trade receivables.  
The fair value of property received, determined by a professionally qualified independent appraiser, amounted to P=6.3 million based 
on the fair valuation dated December 23, 2009 (see Note 34). 

 
Additions to condominium units and parking slots in 2010 and 2009 amounting to P=10.2 million and P=70.0 million, respectively, 
represent properties received by the Parent Company from a customer as partial payment of the latter’s indebtedness to the Parent 
Company (see Note 34). 

 

As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the fair value of land held for capital appreciation amounted to P=235.8 million, and fair value 
of condominium units and parking slots amounted to P=115.9 million and P=106.3 million, respectively. 

 
The fair value of land, condominium units and parking slots was arrived at using the Market Data Approach.  In this approach, the 
value of the land and condominium units and parking slots are based on sales and listings of comparable property registered within 
the vicinity. 

 
The total rental income derived from the investment properties amounted to P=0.7 million, P=0.5 million, and P=0.6 million in 2010, 
2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 24). Total direct operating expenses incurred in relation to these investment properties 
amounted to P=0.4 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008 (see Note 21). 

 
 

13. Other Noncurrent Assets and Other Noncurrent Liabilities 
 

Other noncurrent assets consist of: 
 

 2010 2009 

Receivable from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc.  
(Notes 23 and 26) P=474,864,665 P=435,098,216 

Net retirement asset (Note 27) 21,079,142 8,968,660 
Long-term receivables 6,261,123 13,664,695 
Others 7,009,971 6,163,626 

 P=509,214,901 P=463,895,197 

 
The receivable from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc. resulted from the sale of land by the Parent Company to EEI Retirement Fund, 
Inc.  The amount is to be paid by the Fund within seven years from 2006 with interest rate based on bank’s internal average 
lending rate (see Notes 23 and 26). 

 
Long-term receivables consist of interest-bearing notes with a fifteen-year maturity with step-up interest rates (0% interest for the 
first five years; 10% on the next five years; and 12% on the remaining life of the term). 

 



 

Other noncurrent liabilities consist of: 
 

 2010 2009 

Lease liability (Notes 26 and 33) P=21,245,268 P=31,238,849 
Net retirement liability (Note 27) 4,321,981 13,998,301 
Other noncurrent liabilities 193,790 783,682 

 P=25,761,039 P=46,020,832 

 
Lease liability arises from finance lease transactions with FMLFC, a related party, UCPB Leasing and Finance Corporation and BPI 
Leasing Corporation for the Group’s lease of its various construction machineries and equipment and company vehicles. 

 

 

14. Bank Loans 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2010 2009 

Secured bank loans P=239,900,000 P=1,011,617,298 
Unsecured bank loans – 163,000,000 

 P=239,900,000 P=1,174,617,298 

 
Bank loans consist of Peso-denominated bank loans with annual interest rates of 5.00% and 5.25% to 11.51% in 2010 and 2009, 
respectively. 

 
The secured bank loans are collateralized by the Parent Company’s investment properties of 39 hectares of land located at Lemery, 
Batangas with book value amounting to P=194.3 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 (see Note 12).   

 
 

15. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2010 2009 

Accounts payable P=1,077,462,365 P=792,723,420 
Accrued expenses 239,281,360 242,461,766 
Deferred output taxes 224,953,276 180,722,656 
Retention payable 187,691,915 174,606,298 
Advances from joint venture partners (Note 7) 32,381,854 32,375,854 
Others 73,904,666 36,863,793 

 P=1,835,675,436 P=1,459,753,787 

 
Accrued expenses consist of: 

 
 2010 2009 

Accrued salaries and wages P=105,382,940 P=100,434,558 
Subscription payable 44,585,146 44,585,146 
Withholding taxes and others 33,419,422 58,364,928 
SSS and other contributions 26,232,399 25,086,737 
Accrued interest 2,202,085 10,841,122 
Others 27,459,368 3,149,275 

 P=239,281,360 P=242,461,766 

 



 

 

16. Long-term Debt 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2010 2009 

Parent Company   
a. Private placement fixed-rate corporate promissory notes 

with effective interest of 7.75% per annum.  P=300,000,000 P=300,000,000 
b. Peso-denominated bank loans, payable in quarterly 

installments starting January 2009 with interest based on 
the bank’s internal average lending rate. 133,333,334 266,666,669 

EEI Realty   
c. Peso-denominated bank loan payable semi-annually 

starting April 2007 with interest based on the bank’s 
internal average lending rate. 43,619,940 55,345,570 

EEI Marine   
d. Peso-denominated bank loan payable monthly starting 

June 2010 with interest based on the bank’s transfer pool 
rate, repriceable quarterly in arrears. 17,666,666 – 

 494,619,940 622,012,239 
Less current portion 480,953,274 143,333,334 

 P=13,666,666 P=478,678,905 

 
Parent Company 
a. On September 15, 2009, the Parent Company sold P=300.0 million private placement fixed-rate corporate promissory notes to 

various investors. RCBC Capital Corporation, a related party, acts as the selling agent. The loan matures within two years 
from the date of issue.  The effective cost of the notes facility is 7.75% per annum. The proceeds of the loan were used for 
general corporate and project financing requirements. 

 
b. On October 18, 2006, the Parent Company signed a term loan agreement equivalent to P=400.0 million with RCBC, a related 

party. The loan was for a period of five years, inclusive of a two-year grace period on principal repayment and an interest to be 
based on the floating rate issued by RCBC. The proceeds of the loan were used to pay short-term bank loans. 

 
The peso-denominated loans are collateralized by certain parcels of land located at Calamba, Laguna, EEI Realty’s land and  
land development (included in inventories) located at Tanza, Cavite (see Note 7), and mortgage on certain inventories and 
property and equipment of the Parent Company and EE with a total aggregate net book value of P=903.1 million, P=583.1 million 
and P=568.4 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Notes 7, 11 and 26). 

 

EEI Realty 
c. On October 26, 2006, EEI Realty signed a term loan agreement equivalent to P=125.2 million with RCBC. The loan was for 

a period of five years, with no grace period on principal repayment and an interest based on the bank’s internal average lending 
rate. The proceeds of the loan were used to pay the remaining balance of long-term debt in 2005 and a portion of short-term 
bank loans. 

 
The long-term debt is secured by a real estate mortgage on nine parcels of land included in land and land development with 
aggregate book value of P=120.8 million, P=135.8 million and P=147.2 million as at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively (see Note 7). 

 
EEI Marine 
d. On May 13, 2010 EEI Marine signed a mortgage loan agreement equivalent to P=20.0 million with RCBC. The loan was for a 

period of five years at an annual interest rate based on the bank’s transfer pool rate, repriceable quarterly in arrears. The long-
term debt is secured by a real estate mortgage included in property, plant and equipment with book value of P=29.8 million as 
at December 31, 2010 (see Note 11). 

 
The loan agreements covering the loans of the Parent Company, EEI Realty and EEI Marine provide certain restrictions with 
respect to, among others, usage of loan proceeds, disposal of properties given as collateral, guaranty of any debt, change in 
ownership or management set-up, dividend declaration, merger or consolidation and maintenance of certain financial ratios. 

 
The Group complied with all the loan covenants for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008. 



 

 

17. Stock Option Plan 
 

The Parent Company’s stock option plan, as amended (Amended Plan), had set aside 35 million common shares for stock options 
available to regular employees, officers and directors of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries. 

 
Under the Amended Plan, the option or subscription price must be equal to the book value of the Parent Company’s common 
stock but not less than 80% of the average market price quoted in PSE for five trading days immediately preceding the grant, but in 
no case less than the par value. The option or subscription price should be paid over a period of five years in 120 equal semi-
monthly installments. Shares acquired under the Amended Plan are subject to a holding period of one year. 

 
A summary of the plan availments is shown below. 

 
Number of 

Shares 

Shares allocated under the Original Stock Option Plan 19,262,500 
Shares allocated under the Amended Stock Option Plan 15,737,500 

 Total shares allocated 35,000,000 

Shares subscribed under the Original Stock Option Plan 19,365,815 
Shares subscribed under the Amended Stock Option Plan 10,886,188 

 Total shares subscribed 30,252,003 

Shares allocated at end of year 4,747,997 

 

Since 2000, there were no shares under the stock option plan that were granted, forfeited, exercised and expired. 
 
 No benefit expense is recognized relative to the shares issued under the stock option plan. When options are exercised, these are 

treated as capital stock issuances. The stock option plan is exempt from PFRS 2. 
 
 

18. Costs of Construction Contracts 
 

This account consists of: 
 2010 2009 2008 

Personnel expenses (Note 27) P=1,624,294,148 P=1,203,447,340 P=1,798,378,421 
Equipment costs and others (Note 26) 1,494,557,883 1,074,653,635 1,881,634,061 
Materials 1,166,936,277 993,743,901 1,533,741,566 
Depreciation and amortization (Note 22) 70,972,784 70,751,224 61,773,969 

 P=4,356,761,092 P=3,342,596,100 P=5,275,528,017 

 
 

19. Costs of Services 
 

This account consists of: 
 2010 2009 2008 

Personnel expenses (Note 27) P=1,168,520,756 P=1,817,165,620 P=2,802,717,906 
Materials 29,654,587 22,730,423 65,293,518 
Others 17,082,318 5,378,259 2,021,382 

 P=1,215,257,661 P=1,845,274,302 P=2,870,032,806 

 

 

20. Costs of Merchandise Sales 
 

This account consists of: 
 2010 2009 2008 

Inventories P=103,687,017 P=101,219,259 P=90,141,801 
Personnel expenses (Note 27) 6,027,407 11,681,801 3,875,304 
Depreciation and amortization (Note 22) – – 3,175,797 
Others 3,496,657 6,279,594 5,745,373 

 P=113,211,081 P=119,180,654 P=102,938,275 

 



 

 

21. Selling and Administrative Expenses 
 

This account consists of: 
 2010 2009 2008 

Personnel expenses (Note 27) P=275,612,836 P=262,132,631 P=267,538,623 
Depreciation and amortization (Note 22) 64,387,797 42,073,139 35,106,856 
Net provision for (recovery of) doubtful accounts 

(Notes 5 and 26) 60,616,789 21,293,472 (28,064,440) 
Rent (Note 26) 53,448,937 53,760,149 47,448,822 
Travel and transportation 49,367,435 46,158,465 39,710,804 
Outside services 34,435,021 34,045,757 38,795,132 
Utilities 30,251,352 37,886,552 36,661,907 
Taxes and licenses 27,902,593 23,595,511 40,660,256 
Professional fees 27,268,108 33,987,813 36,826,699 
Repairs and maintenance 23,668,363 20,643,338 16,757,925 
Entertainment, amusement and recreation 20,982,645 13,777,987 8,575,723 
Loss on write off of assets 9,233,638 – – 
Provision for probable losses 7,836,858 – – 
Net provision for (recovery of) inventory 

obsolescence (Note 7) 7,252,036 1,358,464 20,317,401 
Supplies 5,789,889 6,507,486 9,579,053 
Others (Note 10) 36,310,699 31,498,204 58,137,721 

 P=734,364,996 P=628,718,968 P=628,052,482 

 
 Below are the details of net provision for (recovery of) doubtful accounts: 
 

 2010 2009 2008 

Receivables (Note 5)    
Provision during the year P=59,660,984 P=22,050,689 P=10,842,746 
Recoveries – (7,757,217) (38,907,186) 

Miscellaneous deposits (Note 8) 955,805 – – 
Due from related parties (Note 26) – 7,000,000 – 

 P=60,616,789 P=21,293,472 (P=28,064,440) 

 
 

22. Depreciation and Amortization 
 
 Depreciation and amortization are charged to the following accounts: 
 

 2010 2009 2008 

Cost of construction contracts  
(Notes 11 and 18) P=70,972,784 P=70,751,224 P=61,773,969 

Selling and administrative expenses  
(Notes 11, 12 and 21) 64,387,797 42,073,139 35,106,856 

Cost of merchandise sold (Notes 11 and 20) – – 3,175,797 

 P=135,360,581 P=112,824,363 P=100,056,622 

 

 

23. Interest Income 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2010 2009 2008 

Receivables from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc. (Notes 
13 and 26) P=37,272,328 P=37,276,887 P=27,797,165 

Savings deposit and short-term investments (Note 4) 13,264,688 10,022,932 8,511,329 
Others 18,342,175 24,526,820 18,886,246 

 P=68,879,191 P=71,826,639 P=55,194,740 

 



 

 

24. Other Income  
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2010 2009 2008 

Tax reimbursement P=49,661,574 P=63,758,707 P=181,601,248 
Income from reversal of payables 22,657,830 – – 
Gain on sale of assets (Notes 10, 11 and 12) 16,701,739 11,757,307 6,924,804 
Income from defaults 9,511,632 7,562,476 2,178,248 
Reversal of provision for losses 6,433,473 21,742,356 – 
Rental income (Note 12) 1,332,544 2,530,278 1,192,349 
Others 10,995,949 40,195,182 45,263,520 

 P=117,294,741 P=147,546,306 P=237,160,169 

 
In 2010, certain payables that are outstanding for more than five years amounting to P=22.7 million were reversed because the 
Group is not expecting the settlement of which that will result to an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits. 

 
Reversal of provision for losses amounting to P=6.4 million and P=21.7 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively, pertains to EEI NC’s 
reversal of provisions for potential reworks and medical claims. 

 
 

25. Income Taxes 
 

The provision for income tax consists of: 
 

 2010 2009 2008 

Current    
 Foreign P=113,486,245 P=164,230,182 P=277,391,493 
 Domestic 139,040,779 46,576,140 50,299,805 

 252,527,024 210,806,322 327,691,298 
Deferred    
 Domestic 7,003,346 (12,955,979) (17,629,504) 

 P=259,530,370 P=197,850,343 P=310,061,794 

 
The income tax payable consists of: 

 
 2010 2009 

Foreign P=93,821,673 P=131,202,837 
Domestic 11,156,356 7,349,525 

 P=104,978,029 P=138,552,362 

 
The components of the Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: 

 
 2010 2009 

Net deferred tax assets on:   
 Allowance for doubtful accounts P=74,570,434 P=60,240,007 
 Accrued retirement 47,296,570 48,938,668 
 Allowance for inventory obsolescence 5,761,331 5,091,637 
 NOLCO 222,186 2,597,156 
 Unrealized foreign currency exchange losses (gains) (17,848,875) 897,775 
 Other provisions 325,211 38,469 

 P=110,326,857 P=117,803,712 

Net deferred tax liabilities on:   
 Capitalized borrowing cost P=4,523,198 P=5,390,221 
 Pension assets  1,426,331 1,061,349 
 Allowance for inventory obsolescence (412,051) (412,050) 
 Allowance for doubtful accounts (262,592) (291,125) 
 Provision for incentive bonus – – 

 P=5,274,886 P=5,748,395 



 

The Group did not recognize deferred tax assets in 2010 and 2009 on cumulative translation adjustments. The Group did not also 
recognize deferred tax liabilities on equity in net earnings of foreign subsidiaries in 2010 and 2009. The Group determined that the 
reversal of these cumulative translation adjustments and equity in net earnings of foreign subsidiaries can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not be reversed in the foreseeable future. 

 
 The Group did not recognize any deferred tax liabilities on unremitted earnings of the Group’s investments in associate and joint 

venture amounting to P=276.9 million and P=166.0 million and as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
 

The Group did not recognize any deferred tax asset in relation to unexpired share options as this has negative intrinsic value. 
 

The Group did not recognize any deferred tax assets (liabilities) on the following temporary differences of certain subsidiaries as 
management assessed that it is not probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets 
to be utilized. 

 
 2010 2009 

Allowance for inventory obsolescence P=35,338,229 P=44,204,596 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 20,283,435 30,394,527 
NOLCO 15,737,487 8,055,025 
MCIT 9,352,251 22,482,952 
Accrued retirement benefits (pension assets) 586,696 1,382,804 
Allowance for impairment of AFS 530,144 530,144 
Unrealized foreign currency exchange losses (gains) 209,711 5,540 
Other provisions 1,637,755 2,161,700 

 P=83,675,708 P=109,217,288 

 

 
 On October 18, 2005, the Supreme Court has rendered its final decision declaring the validity of Republic Act No. 9337 (new 

EVAT Law) which included, among others, (a) provisions for the increase in corporate income tax rate from 32% to 35% effective 
November 1, 2005 and later on reducing the rate to 30% effective January 1, 2009 and (b) the change in allowable deduction for 
interest expense from 38% to 42% effective November 1, 2005 and 33% beginning January 1, 2009. 

 
Republic Act No. 9504, An Act Amending National Internal Revenue Code, provides that starting July 1, 2008, the optional 
standard deduction (OSD) equivalent to 40% of gross income may be claimed as an alternative deduction in computing for the 
RCIT. For 2010 and 2009 RCIT computation, the Group elected to claim itemized expense deductions instead of the OSD. 

 
 The Group’s NOLCO and MCIT will expire in the following years: 

 

  NOLCO  

Year Incurred Expiry Date At Gross Tax Benefit MCIT 

2008 2011 P=2,900,686 P=870,206 P=9,212,263 
2009 2012 546,273 163,882 26,470 
2010 2013 13,031,148 3,909,344 113,518 

  P=16,478,107 P=4,943,432 P=9,352,251 

 
The following shows the movement of NOLCO and MCIT: 

 
NOLCO 2010 2009 

Beginning of the year P=16,712,212 P=70,620,183 
Addition 13,031,148 8,957,130 
Applied portion (11,514,053) (55,021,985) 
Expired portion (1,751,200) (7,843,116) 

 P=16,478,107 P=16,712,212 

 
MCIT 2010 2009 

Beginning of the year P=22,482,952 P=30,096,011 
Addition 113,518 1,027,759 
Applied portion (13,224,024) (7,619,804) 
Expired portion (20,195) (1,021,014) 

 P=9,352,251 P=22,482,952 

 



 

The reconciliation between the statutory and effective income tax rates follows: 
 

 2010 2009 2008 

Statutory income tax rate 30.0% 30.0% 35.0% 
Add (deduct) reconciling items:    
 Equity in net earnings of associates  

and joint ventures (10.5) (20.9) (23.2) 
 Change in unrecognized deferred  taxes 13.4 (2.1) (7.2) 

 Income subjected to final taxes at  
lower rates (4.9) (0.4) (0.3) 

 Effect of adjustment due to change in 
statutory tax rate –  – 2.6 

 Others 0.3 19.4 30.1 

Effective income tax rate 28.3% 26.0% 37.0% 

 

 

26. Related Party Transactions 
 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they 
are subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.  
Transactions with related parties and other transactions are made at rates agreed upon by the parties. 

 
The outstanding balances arising from related party transactions in the consolidated statements of financial position consist of the 
following: 

 
 2010 2009 

Due from related parties    
Associate (net of allowance for doubtful accounts amounting to P=

7.0 million in 2009) P=41,639,002 P=298,107,463 
Entities under common control 42,310,733 33,520,652 

 83,949,735 331,628,115 

Due to related parties   
Associate 119,103,136 – 
Entities under common control 22,696,050 18,484,047 

 141,799,186 18,484,047 

Receivables from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc. (Notes 13 and 23) 474,864,665 435,098,216 
Bank loans (Note 14)   

Entities under common control – 38,000,000 
Long-term debt - related bank (including current portion) (Note 16)   

Entities under common control 194,619,940 322,012,239 
Lease liability (Notes 13 and 33)   

Entities under common control 21,245,268 31,238,849 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)   

Entities under common control 742,379,304 543,654,011 
 

Related parties include entities under common control, which pertain to other subsidiaries of PMMIC, which is the Group’s 
ultimate parent company. 

 
All outstanding balances, except for the long-term portion of long-term debt and receivable from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc., are 
expected to be realized and settled within one year from the date of statements of financial position. 

 

Below are the Group’s transactions with related parties: 
 

a. In 2006, the Parent Company sold parcels of land to EEI Retirement Fund, Inc., a trustee of the Parent Company employees 
retirement fund (the Fund). The Fund is managed by RCBC Trust and Investment Division. The parcels of land sold are located in 
Manggahan, Quezon City and Bauan, Batangas. The details of the receivables are discussed in Note 13.  Interest income recognized 
from the Fund is disclosed in Note 23. 

 

Starting January 2007, the Parent Company and EEI Retirement Fund, Inc. entered into operating lease agreements for the said land 
and improvements. The terms are for one year and renewable at the option of the Parent Company provided that for each and every 
renewal, the monthly rentals shall be increased upon mutual agreement of both parties. Annual rental for the property located in 
Manggahan, Quezon City amounted to P=45.0 million which is charged to rental expense in the statement of income for the three 



 

years ended December 31, 2010 (see Note 21). Annual rental for the property located in Bauan, Batangas amounted to P=46.0 million 
which is charged to cost of construction contracts in the statement of income for the three years ended December 31, 2010 (see Note 
18). 

 
b. The Group has bank loans and long-term debts with its affiliated bank.  Interest expense pertaining to these borrowings amounted to 

P=43.2 million, P=91.2 million and P=114.2 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  The bank loan with affiliated bank is fully 
paid in 2010. 

 
c. Parent Company entered into various lease agreements with MRC and FMLFC. The terms shall be for 4 to 5 years and payable 

monthly based on the due dates set forth in the contracts without the necessity of any formal demand.  Rent expense charged to 
operations amounted to P=6.2 million, P=10.1 million and P=9.2 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Notes 21 and 33). 

 
d. The Group maintains cash and cash equivalents with its affiliated bank.  Interest income related to these deposits amounted to P=10.5 

million, P=8.6 million and P=6.3 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 23). 
 

e. In 2009, the Parent Company recognized provision for doubtful accounts on its receivable from an associate amounting to P=7.0 million. 
 

f. Parent Company entered into an insurance contract with Malayan Insurance Corporation for EEI Caledonia workers amounting 
to P=25.9 million in 2010 and 2009. 

 
Compensation of Key Management Personnel of the Group 
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management are as follows: 

 
 2010 2009 2008 

Short-term benefits P=65,201,850 P=56,946,464 P=49,370,083 
Post-employment benefits 10,285,695 6,916,219 4,327,850 

 P=75,487,545 P=63,862,683 P=53,697,933 

 
 

27. Retirement Cost 
 

The Parent Company and certain subsidiaries have funded, noncontributory defined benefit pension plans (the Plan) covering 
substantially all of their employees.  The Plan provides for normal, early retirement, death and disability benefits.  Retirement costs 
are actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method.  Retirement expense charged to operations in 2010, 2009 and 
2008 amounted to P=50.6 million, P=63.2 million and P=53.8 million, respectively (see Note 18, 19, 20 and 21). 

 
 The following tables summarize the components of the retirement expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income 

and the funded status and amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position for the retirement plan. 

 

Retirement expense consists of: 
 2010 2009 2008 

Current service cost P=26,815,070 P=9,999,088 P=25,014,071 
Interest expense on obligations 34,639,355 60,998,614 31,751,837 
Expected return on plan assets (23,768,941) (18,989,907) (16,922,837) 
Past service cost 12,677,184 – – 
Recognized actuarial losses (gains) 202,912 (2,757,245) 243,174 
Amortization of additional retirement liability – 12,945,678 12,945,678 
Asset ceiling adjustment – 1,023,963 725,437 

 P=50,565,580 P=63,220,191 P=53,757,360 

 
 The actual return on the plan assets amounted to P=38.5 million, P=28.9 million and P=4.8 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, 

respectively.  

 
The reconciliation of the present value of defined benefit obligation and the net retirement asset and liability (see Note 13) in the 
consolidated statements of financial position follows: 
 
 Net retirement asset 
 

 2010 2009 

Present value of defined benefit obligations (P=446,182,533) (P=309,813,285) 
Fair value of plan assets 397,936,690 325,592,951 

 (48,245,843) 15,779,666 
Unrecognized actuarial gain (loss) 69,324,985 (6,811,006) 

Net retirement asset P=21,079,142 P=8,968,660 



 

 Net retirement liability 
 

 2010 2009 

Present value of defined benefit obligations P=22,649,790 P=27,993,324 
Fair value of plan assets (16,029,607) (13,963,345) 

 6,620,183 14,029,979 
Unrecognized actuarial loss (2,298,202) (31,678) 

Net retirement liability P=4,321,981 P=13,998,301 

 

Changes in the present value of defined obligation follow: 
 

 2010 2009 

Balance at beginning of year P=337,806,609 P=201,648,820 
Interest expense on obligations 34,639,355 60,998,614 
Current service cost 26,815,070 9,999,088 
Benefits paid (26,708,877) (20,226,854) 
Past service cost 12,677,184 – 
Actuarial loss 83,602,982 85,386,941 

Balance at end of year P=468,832,323 P=337,806,609 

 

Changes in the fair value of plan assets follow: 
 

 2010 2009 

Balance at beginning of year P=339,556,296 P=272,787,958 
Expected return on plan assets 23,768,941 18,989,907 
Contributions 62,618,801 59,066,390 
Actuarial gain 14,731,136 9,962,858 
Benefits paid (26,708,877) (20,226,854) 

 P=413,966,297 P=340,580,259 
Allowance for asset ceiling adjustment – (1,023,963) 

Balance at end of year P=413,966,297 P=339,556,296 

 

The Group expects to contribute P=60.4 million to the fund in 2011.  The contribution is essential to meet the expected return on 
the plan assets that will minimize the actuarial losses that form part of the pension expense. 

 

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of the total plan assets are as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 

Investment in government securities 40% 53% 
Other securities and debt instruments 14% 19% 
Deposit in bank 36% 11% 
Receivables 1% 11% 
Investment in shares of stock 10% 7% 
Liabilities (1%) (1%) 

 100% 100% 

 

 The overall expected rate of return on plan assets is determined based on the market prices prevailing on that date applicable to the 
period over which the obligation is to be settled. 

 

 The fund holds investments in shares of stock of the Parent Company with fair market value of P=24,559 and P=15,248 in 2010 and 
2009, respectively. 

 

Principal actuarial assumptions used to determine pension obligations follow: 
 

 2010 2009 

Discount rate   
 Beginning of year 10.51% 31.29% 
 End of year 7.29% 10.51% 
Expected rate of return   
 Beginning of year 7.00% 6.88% 
 End of year 6.00% 7.00% 
Salary increases   
 Beginning of year 8.00% 9.63% 
 End of year 8.00% 8.00% 



 

Amounts for the current and previous periods are as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 

Present value of defined benefit 
obligation (P=468,832,323) (P=337,806,609) (P=201,648,820) (P=308,219,754) (P=386,086,295) 

Fair value of plan assets 413,966,297 339,556,296 272,787,958 237,538,118 120,240,460 

Surplus (deficit) of plan assets (54,866,026) 1,749,687 71,139,138 (70,681,636) (265,845,835) 
Experience adjustments on plan 

liabilities (1,903,033) (47,284,272) (2,763,950) (2,996,029) (4,096,748) 
Experience adjustments on plan 

assets 14,731,136 11,466,449 (1,112,171) (3,464,463) 2,996,029 
 

Changes in the additional retirement liability arising from amortization of transition liability upon the Group’s first time adoption of 
PAS 19 follow: 

 
 2010 2009 

Balance at beginning of year P=– P=12,945,678 
Less amortization during the year – 12,945,678 

Balance at end of year P=– P=– 

 
 

28. Earnings Per Share 
 

The following table presents information necessary to calculate earnings per share: 
 

 2010 2009 2008 

Net income P=657,165,028 P=563,204,513 P=506,333,530 
Weighted average number of common shares 1,036,281,485 1,036,281,485 1,036,281,485 

Earnings per share - basic/diluted P=0.6342 P=0.5435 P=0.4886 

 
 The exercise price of unexercised stock options is still higher than the average market price during the year making the options 

anti-dilutive, hence, no diluted earnings per share is calculated. 
 
 The rollforward analyses of the number of shares are as follows: 

 

 2010 2009 

Balance at beginning of year 1,036,401,386 1,036,401,386 
Treasury shares (119,901) (119,901) 

Balance at end of year 1,036,281,485 1,036,281,485 

 

 

29. Segment Information 
 

For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on geographical location, which comprises of two main 
groupings as follows: 

 

• Domestic - all transaction and contracts entered in the Philippines. 

• Foreign - all transactions and contracts entered outside the Philippines. 

- ARCC - Al Rushaid Construction Company Limited - incorporated in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 

- NC - EEI-Nouvelle Caledonie SARL - incorporated in New Caledonia 
- CJIL - Clear Jewel Investments, Ltd. - incorporated in British Virgin Islands 

 
Management monitors construction revenue and segment net income for the purpose of making decision about resources 
allocation. Segment performance is evaluated based on net income and construction revenue, which is accounted for differently in 
the consolidated statement of income. 

 



 

Segment reporting is consistent in all periods presented as there are no changes in the structure of the Group’s internal organization 
that will cause the composition of its reportable segment to change. 

 

(In thousand pesos) 
 2010 

 Domestic Foreign Combined Elimination Consolidated 

Assets      

 Current assets P=5,343,875 P=3,662,203 P=9,006,078 (P=4,274,800) P=4,731,278 

 Noncurrent assets 2,936,796 2,707,753 5,644,549 (2,486,560) 3,157,989 

Total Assets P=8,280,671 P=6,369,956 P=14,650,627 (P=6,761,360) P=7,889,267 

Liabilities      

 Current liabilities P=5,110,173 P=3,683,480 P=8,793,653 (P=4,690,368) P=4,103,285 

 Noncurrent liabilities 44,703 680,726 725,429 (680,727) 44,702 

Total liabilities P=5,154,876 P=4,364,206 P=9,519,082 (P=5,371,095) P=4,147,987 

Revenue P=6,320,584 P=8,749,685 P=15,070,269 (P=8,182,640) P=6,887,629 

Direct cost (5,152,251) (6,836,618) (11,988,869) 6,205,018 (5,783,851) 

Operating expenses (717,741) (917,677) (1,635,418) 901,053 (734,365) 

Interest expense (100,002) – (100,002) 8,364 (91,638) 

Other income (charges) 272,652 252,000 524,652 (206,792) 317,860 

Distribution of ARCC’s  net income  – (967,351) (967,351) 1,288,411 321,060 

Income before tax 623,242 280,039 903,281 13,414 916,695 

Provision for income tax (146,044) (113,486) (259,530) – (259,530) 

Net income P=477,198 P=166,553 P=643,751 P=13,414 P=657,165 

Cash flows arising from:      

 Operating activities P=1,308,263 P=1,422,674 P=2,730,937 (P=1,307,444) P=1,423,493 

 Investing activities (138,593) (1,112,682) (1,251,275) 1,112,517 (138,758) 

 Financing activities (1,195,677) (598,540) (1,794,217) 598,540 (1,195,677) 

Number of employees 5,854 8,018 13,872 – 13,872 

 
 2009 

 Domestic Foreign Combined Elimination Consolidated 

Assets      

 Current assets P=6,261,140 P=7,577,346 P=13,838,486 (P=8,115,176) P=5,723,310 

 Noncurrent assets 2,518,692 3,170,776 5,689,468 (3,195,437) 2,494,031 

Total Assets P=8,779,832 P=10,748,122 P=19,527,954 (P=11,310,613) P=8,217,341 

Liabilities      

 Current liabilities P=5,510,158 P=6,915,784 P=12,425,942 (P=7,994,900) P=4,431,042 

 Noncurrent liabilities 516,450 318,817 835,267 (304,819) 530,448 

Total liabilities P=6,026,608 P=7,234,601 P=13,261,209 (P=8,299,719) P=4,961,490 

Revenue P=5,037,515  P=17,535,990  P=22,573,505  (P=16,306,422) P=6,267,083  

Direct cost (3,939,635)  (15,178,320) (19,117,955) 13,679,037  (5,438,918) 

Operating expenses (609,301) (1,535,394) (2,144,695) 1,573,892  (570,803) 

Interest expense (211,644) – (211,644) 1,514  (210,130) 

Other income (charges) 114,930  122,150 237,080 (53,620)  183,460  

Distribution of ARCC’s  net income  – (552,010) (552,010) 1,082,373  530,363  

Income before tax 391,865 392,416  784,281  (23,226)  761,055  

Provision for income tax (33,621) (164,230) (197,851) – (197,851) 

Net income P=358,244  P=228,186  P=586,430  P=(23,226)  P=563,204  

Cash flows arising from:      

 Operating activities P=569,631 P=255,600 P=825,231 (P=612,885) P=212,346 

 Investing activities (825,867) (709,886) (1,535,753) 1,102,198 (433,555) 

 Financing activities (60,390) 386,617 326,227 (386,617) (60,390) 

Number of employees 5,379 11,178 16,557 – 16,557 

 

Notes to operating segments: 
1. Intersegment revenues, cost and expenses, assets and liabilities are eliminated on consolidation.  These are accounted for under 

PFRS. 
2. Other income (charges) consist of: 

 

 2010 2009 2008 

Interest income and other income P=186,173,932 P=219,372,945 P=292,354,909 
Foreign exchange gain (loss) - net 131,686,659 (35,913,273) (15,015,342) 

 P=317,860,591 P=183,459,672 P=277,339,567 



 

3. The foreign segment above includes the results of operations of ARCC at 100%.  The consolidated financial statements of the 
Group present its 49% share in ARCC under the equity in net earnings account. 

4. Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment and investment properties. 
5. The domestic segment above includes land and building classified as held for sale amounting to P=33.9 million in 2009 (see 

Note 11). 
6. The foreign segment has revenue from one customer amounting to nil, P=1.6 billion and P=2.8 billion in 2010, 2009 and 2008, 

respectively. 
 
 

30. Retained Earnings 
 

On March 19, 2010, the Parent Company declared a cash dividend of P=0.10 per share to common stockholders of record broken 
down as follows: 

 

Record Date Payment Date Amount 

April 8, 2010 April 30, 2010 P=0.025 per share 
June 4, 2010 June 30, 2010 P=0.025 per share 
September 6, 2010 September 30, 2010 P=0.025 per share 
December 3, 2010 December 29, 2010 P=0.025 per share 

 

The total amount of cash dividends declared and paid amounted to P=103.6 million in 2010. 
 

On March 20, 2009, Parent Company declared a cash dividend of P=0.10 per share to common stockholders of record broken down 
as follows: 

 

Record Date Payment Date Amount 

April 7, 2009 April 30, 2009 P=0.025 per share 
June 4, 2009 June 30, 2009 P=0.025 per share 
September 4, 2009 September 30, 2009 P=0.025 per share 
December 2, 2009 December 29, 2009 P=0.025 per share 

 

The total amount of cash dividends declared and paid amounted to P=103.6 million in 2009. 
 

 

31. Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 

Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group’s financial instruments that are 
carried in the consolidated financial statements.  The carrying values are net of allowance for doubtful accounts.  There are no 
material unrecognized financial assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2010 and 2009. 

 

 2010 2009 

 Carrying Values Fair Values Carrying Values Fair Values 

Financial Assets  
Loans and receivables  
Cash and cash equivalents    

Cash in banks P=677,681,538 P=677,681,538 P=695,021,056 P=695,021,056 
Short-term investments 297,888,259 297,888,259 189,934,459 189,934,459 

Receivables      
Trade receivables 2,132,676,574 2,132,676,574 1,971,884,541 1,971,884,541 
Tax refund from tax authorities 35,315,940 35,315,940 93,292,447 93,292,447 
Consultancy fee 39,491,432 39,491,432 88,710,721 88,710,721 
Advances to officers and employees 16,845,324 16,845,324 19,490,083 19,490,083 
Reimbursable taxes 20,699,363 20,699,363 18,000,906 18,000,906 
Other receivables 47,752,096 47,752,096 48,794,959 48,794,959 

Due from related parties 83,949,735 83,949,735 331,628,115 331,628,115 
Miscellaneous deposits 36,010,142 36,010,142 40,452,341 40,452,341 
Other noncurrent assets     

Receivable from retirement fund  474,864,665 475,705,428 435,098,216 436,009,108 
Long-term receivables 6,261,123 11,826,227 13,664,695 16,881,430 

 3,869,436,191 3,875,842,058 3,945,972,539 3,950,100,166 
AFS securities     
Quoted shares 17,656,421 17,656,421 17,858,708 17,858,708 
Unquoted shares 112,747,000 112,747,000 125,921,980 125,921,980 

 130,403,421 130,403,421 143,780,688 143,780,688 

 P=3,999,839,612 P=4,006,245,479 P=4,089,753,227 P=4,093,880,854 



 

 2010 2009 

 Carrying Values Fair Values Carrying Values Fair Values 

Financial Liabilities  
Financial liabilities at amortized cost   
Bank loans   

Secured bank loans P=239,900,000 P=239,900,000 P=1,011,617,298 P=1,011,617,298 
Unsecured bank loans – – 163,000,000 163,000,000 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses     
Accounts payable 1,077,462,365 1,077,462,365 792,723,420 792,723,420 
Accrued expenses 179,629,539 179,629,539 159,010,101 159,010,101 
Retention payables 187,691,915 187,691,915 174,606,298 174,606,298 
Others 73,904,666 73,904,666 36,863,793 36,863,793 

Due to related parties 141,799,186 141,799,186 18,484,047 18,484,047 
Long-term debt 494,619,940 494,619,940 622,012,239 626,998,286 

 P=2,395,007,611 P=2,395,007,611 P=2,978,317,196 P=2,983,303,243 

 
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument for which it is 
practicable to estimate such value: 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Receivable, Due from Related Parties and Miscellaneous Deposits 
Due to the short-term nature of transactions, the fair values approximate their carrying amounts. 

 
 Receivable from Real Estate Operation 

The fair value approximates the carrying amount since its interest rate is based on rates prevailing on real estate operations. 

 

Other Noncurrent Assets 
The fair values of receivables from retirement fund and long-term receivables are estimated as the present value of all future cash 
flows discounted using the applicable rates for similar loans. Discount rates used ranged from 1.33% to 6.74% and 5.32% to 9.70% 
in 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

 
AFS Securities 
The fair values of quoted equity securities are based on quoted market prices. In the absence of a reliable basis of determining fair 
values due to the unpredictable nature of future cash flows and the lack of suitable methods in arriving at a reliable fair value, the 
unquoted equity securities are carried at cost less any impairment allowance. 

 
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses, Bank Loans and Due to Related Parties 
The carrying amounts of accounts payable and accrued expenses, bank loans and due to related parties approximate their fair values 
due to the short-term nature of the transaction. 

 
Long-term Debt 
Fair values of long-term debt with fixed interest rates are estimated as the present value of all future cash flows discounted using the 
applicable rates for similar long-term debt. Discount rates used ranged from 7.29% to 9.02% in 2009. The fair value of long-term 
debt with fixed interest rates in 2010 approximates the carrying amount since the outstanding balances are all current. Long-term 
debt subjected to quarterly repricing is not discounted since it approximates fair value. 

 
Fair Value Hierarchy 
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation 
technique: 

 
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either 

directly or indirectly 
Level 3: techniques which use inputs have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market 

data. 
 

The quoted AFS securities of the Group fall under level 1 as at December 31, 2010 and 2009. The Group has no financial assets 
that fall under level 2 and 3 as at December 31, 2010 and 2009. 

 
 

32. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
 

The main purpose of the Group’s financial instruments is to raise finances for the Group’s operations.  
 



 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The policies for 
managing these risks are summarized as follows: 

 
Credit Risk 
The exposure to credit risk on its receivables relates primarily to the inability of project owners to fully settle the unpaid balance of 
contract receivables and other claims owed to the Group.  Credit risk is managed in accordance with the Group’s credit risk policy 
which requires the evaluation of the creditworthiness of the project owners by engaging the service of an accredited third party 
credit analyst. 
 
The Group does not have any significant concentration of credit risk.  Its main exposure to credit risk is equivalent to face amount 
of its financial assets. 

 

The table below shows the main exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of financial position.  
The main exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting arrangements or collateral 
agreements. 

 
Statement of financial position items 2010 2009 

Cash and cash equivalents   
Cash in banks P=677,681,538 P=695,021,056 
Short-term investments 297,888,259 189,934,459 

Receivables   
Trade receivables 2,132,676,574 1,971,884,541 
Tax refund from tax authorities 35,315,940 93,292,447 

 Consultancy fee 39,491,432 88,710,721 
Advances to officers and employees 16,845,324 19,490,083 

 Reimbursable taxes 20,699,363 18,000,906 
Other receivables 47,752,096 48,794,959 

Due from related parties 83,949,735 331,628,115 
Miscellaneous deposits 36,010,142 40,452,341 
Other noncurrent assets   

Receivable from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc. 474,864,665 435,098,216 
Long-term receivables 6,261,123 13,664,695 

 P=3,869,436,191 P=3,945,972,539 

 
There can be some credit exposures on project commitments and contingencies as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 represented by 
work accomplishments on backlog of projects which are not yet invoiced. These exposures are however limited to a few months 
work accomplishment as work are frozen as soon as the Group is able to determine that the risk of non-collection materializes.  
This risk is, however, mitigated by the Group’s contractor’s lien on the project. A contractor’s lien is the legal right of a contractor 
(the Group) to takeover the project in-progress and has priority in the settlement of contractor’s receivables and claims on the 
project in the event of insolvency of the project owner. The Group assesses that the value of projects in-progress is usually higher 
than receivables from and future commitments with the project owners. 

 
The analyses of loans and receivables are as follows: 

 

  2010 

Past Due but Not Impaired  

 

Neither 
Past Due 

nor Impaired <30 days 
30 to <60 

days 
60 to <90 

days >90 days 

Impaired 
Financial 

Assets Total 

Cash and cash equivalents        
Cash in banks P=677,681,538 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=677,681,538 
Short-term investments 297,888,259 – – – – – 297,888,259 

Receivables        
Trade receivables 1,610,060,288 269,294,064 68,186,196 121,105,409 64,030,617 196,804,618 2,329,481,192 
Tax refund from tax  

 authorities – – – – 35,315,940 – 35,315,940 
Consultancy fee 7,108,458 5,528,801 4,344,057 9,872,858 12,637,258 – 39,491,432 
Advances to officers 

 and employees 2,933,060 – 5,565,671 1,220,587 7,126,006 – 16,845,324 
Reimbursable taxes – 20,699,363 – – – – 20,699,363 
Other receivables 11,321,582 7,439,802 6,976,673 6,284,834 15,729,205 38,516,746 86,268,842 

Due from related parties 83,949,735 – – – – 7,000,000 90,949,735 
Miscellaneous deposits 31,035,237 – – 708,329 4,266,576 955,805 36,965,947 
Other noncurrent assets        

Receivable from EEI  
Retirement Fund, Inc. 474,864,665 – – – – – 474,864,665 

Long-term receivables 4,637,714 – – 1,623,409 – – 6,261,123 

 P=3,201,480,536 P=302,962,030 P=85,072,597 P=140,815,426 P=139,105,602 P=243,277,169 P=4,112,713,360 

 



 

  2009 

Past Due but Not Impaired  

 

Neither 
Past Due 

nor Impaired <30 days 
30 to <60 

days 
60 to <90 

days >90 days 

Impaired 
Financial 

Assets Total 

Cash and cash equivalents        
Cash in banks P=695,021,056 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=695,021,056 
Short-term investments 189,934,459 – – – – – 189,934,459 

Receivables        
Trade receivables 1,129,914,644 200,354,510 106,930,410 243,040,362 291,644,615 165,658,122 2,137,542,663 
Tax refund from tax  

 authorities – – – – 93,292,447 – 93,292,447 
Consultancy fee 16,249,926 12,595,055 8,757,266 22,436,700 28,671,774 – 88,710,721 
Advances to officers 

 and employees 1,347,655 – 4,891,173 1,474,934 11,776,321 – 19,490,083 
Reimbursable taxes – 18,000,906 – – – – 18,000,906 
Other receivables 9,698,171 4,435,881 11,094,008 12,011,478 11,555,421 34,003,169 82,798,128 

Due from related parties 25,639,191 6,739,589 2,306,710 667,951 296,274,674 7,000,000 338,628,115 
Miscellaneous deposits 31,805,449 – – 4,907,642 3,739,250 – 40,452,341 
Other noncurrent assets        

Receivable from EEI  
Retirement Fund, Inc. 435,098,216 – – – – – 435,098,216 

Long-term receivables 13,664,695 – – – – – 13,664,695 

 P=2,548,373,462 P=242,125,941 P=133,979,567 P=284,539,067 P=736,954,502 P=206,661,291 P=4,152,633,830 

 

The risk that past due receivables from project owners will not be collected is mitigated by the fact  that the Group can resort to 
carry out its contractor’s lien over the project with varying degrees of  effectiveness depending on the jurisprudence applicable on 
or country location of the project. Trade and retention receivables from project owners are normally high standard because of the 
creditworthiness of project owners and the collection remedy of contractor’s lien accorded contractor in certain cases. 

 
The table below summarizes the credit quality of the Group’s neither past due nor impaired loans and receivables. 

 

 2010 

 Neither Past Due nor Impaired  

 High Grade Standard Grade Total 

Cash and cash equivalents    
 Cash in banks P=677,681,538 P=– P=677,681,538 
 Short-term investments 297,888,259 – 297,888,259 
Receivables    
 Trade receivables 1,521,077,748 88,982,540 1,610,060,288 
 Consultancy fee 7,108,458 – 7,108,458 
 Advances to officers and employees 2,683,006 250,054 2,933,060 
 Other receivables 7,259,972 4,061,610 11,321,582 
Due from related parties 83,949,735 – 83,949,735 
Miscellaneous deposits 17,450,745 13,584,492 31,035,237 
Other noncurrent assets    
 Receivable from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc. 474,864,665 – 474,864,665 
 Long-term receivables – 4,637,714 4,637,714 

 P=3,089,964,126 P=111,516,410 P=3,201,480,536 

 

 

 2009 

 Neither Past Due nor Impaired  

 High Grade Standard Grade Total 

Cash and cash equivalents    
 Cash in banks P=695,021,056 P=– P=695,021,056 
 Short-term investments 189,934,459 – 189,934,459 
Receivables    
 Trade receivables 1,045,586,028 84,328,616 1,129,914,644 
 Consultancy fee 16,249,926 – 16,249,926 
 Advances to officers and employees 1,347,655 – 1,347,655 
 Other receivables – 9,698,171 9,698,171 
Due from related parties 25,639,191 – 25,639,191 
Miscellaneous deposits 13,089,898 18,715,551 31,805,449 
Other noncurrent assets    
 Receivable from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc. 435,098,216 – 435,098,216 
 Long-term receivables – 13,664,695 13,664,695 

 P=2,421,966,429 P=126,407,033 P=2,548,373,462 



 

Neither past due nor impaired trade receivables (including retention receivables), other receivables and miscellaneous deposits are 
classified into ‘high grade’ and ‘standard grade’. Neither past due nor impaired cash and cash equivalents, advances to officers and 
employees and due from related parties are normally ‘high grade’ in nature.  The Group sets financial assets as ‘high grade’ based on 
the Group’s positive collection experience.  On the other hand, ‘standard grade’ are those which have credit history of default in 
payments. 

 
Liquidity Risk  
The Group seeks to manage its liquidity risk to be able to meet its operating cash flow requirements, finance capital expenditures 
and service maturing debts. To cover its short-term and long-term funding requirements, the Group intends to use internally 
generated funds and available short-term and long-term credit facilities. Credit lines are obtained from BOD-designated banks at 
amounts based on financial forecasts approved by BOD.  

 

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial assets. The maturity groupings are based on the remaining 
period from the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. 

 
 2010 

 On Demand < 1 year 1 to < 2 years 2 to < 3 years >3 years Total 

Loans and receivables       
Cash and cash equivalents       
 Cash in banks P=677,681,538 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=677,681,538 
 Short-term investments 297,888,259 – – – – 297,888,259 
Receivables        
 Trade receivables 534,251,483 1,598,425,091 – – – 2,132,676,574 
 Tax refund from tax   
 authorities – 35,315,940 – – – 35,315,940 
 Consultancy fee 32,382,974 7,108,458 – – – 39,491,432 
 Advances to officers and              
  employees 13,912,264 2,933,060 – – – 16,845,324 
 Reimbursable taxes – 20,699,363 – – – 20,699,363 
 Other receivables 36,430,514 11,321,582 – – – 47,752,096 
Due from related parties 83,949,735 – – – – 83,949,735 
Miscellaneous deposits 3,867,859 32,142,283 – – – 36,010,142 
Other noncurrent assets       
 Receivable from EEI  
 Retirement Fund, Inc        
  Principal  − − − 474,864,665 − 474,864,665 
  Interest − 32,053,365 32,053,365 32,053,365 − 96,160,095 
 Long-term receivables       
  Principal  − − 6,261,123 − − 6,261,123 
  Interest − 150,661 150,661 − − 301,322 

 1,680,364,626 1,740,149,803 38,465,149 506,918,030 – 3,965,897,608 
AFS securities       
Quoted shares − − − 17,656,421 − 17,656,421 
Unquoted shares − − − 112,747,000 − 112,747,000 

 − − − 130,403,421 – 130,403,421 

 P=1,680,364,626 P=1,740,149,803 P=38,465,149 P=637,321,451 P=– P=4,096,301,029 

 



 

 

 2009 

 
 

On Demand < 1 year 1 to < 2 years 2 to < 3 years >3 years Total 

Loans and receivables      
Cash and cash equivalents      
 Cash in banks P=695,021,056 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=695,021,056 
 Short-term investments 1,636,141 188,298,318 – – – 189,934,459 
Receivables        
 Trade receivables 1,105,196,189 866,688,352 – – – 1,971,884,541 
 Tax refund from tax   
 authorities – 93,292,447 – – – 93,292,447 
 Consultancy fee 72,460,773 16,249,948 – – – 88,710,721 
 Advances to officers and              
  employees – 19,490,083 – – – 19,490,083 
 Reimbursable taxes – 18,000,906 – – – 18,000,906 
 Other receivables 28,734,388 20,060,571 – – – 48,794,959 
Due from related parties 331,628,115 – – – – 331,628,115 
Miscellaneous deposits 3,883,558 36,568,783 – – – 40,452,341 
Other noncurrent assets       
 Receivable from EEI  
 Retirement Fund, Inc        
  Principal  – – – 435,098,216 – 435,098,216 
  Interest – 32,632,366 32,632,366 32,632,366 – 97,897,098 
 Long-term receivables       
  Principal  – 1,260,796 1,260,796 1,260,796 9,882,307 13,664,695 
  Interest – 1,125,594 999,514 873,434 2,529,914 5,528,456 

 2,238,560,220 1,293,668,164 34,892,676 469,864,812 12,412,221 4,049,398,093 
AFS securities       
Quoted shares – – – 17,858,708 – 17,858,708 
Unquoted shares – – – 125,921,980 – 125,921,980 

 – – – 143,780,688 – 143,780,688 

 P=2,238,560,220 P=1,293,668,164 P=34,892,676 P=613,645,500 P=12,412,221 P=4,193,178,781 

 

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments 
(both principal and interest). 

 

 2010 

 On demand < 1 year 1 to < 2 years Total 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses P=417,882,301 P=1,099,402,810 P=1,403,374 P=1,518,688,485 
Bank loans     
 Peso loan − 239,900,000 − 239,900,000 
 Interest − 11,995,000 − 11,995,000 
Long-term debt     
 Peso loan − 480,953,274 13,666,666 494,619,940 
 Interest − 28,817,405 1,465,998 30,283,403 
Due to related parties 141,799,186 − − 141,799,186 

 P=559,681,487 P=1,861,068,489 P=16,536,038 P=2,437,286,014 

 
 2009 

 On demand < 1 year 1 to < 2 years Total 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses P=857,187,247 P=306,016,365 P=− P=1,163,203,612 
Bank loans     
 Peso loan − 1,174,617,298 − 1,174,617,298 
 Interest − 21,123,770 − 21,123,770 
Long-term debt     
 Peso loan − 143,333,334 478,678,905 622,012,239 
 Interest − 44,250,394 33,081,860 77,332,254 
Due to related parties 18,484,047 − − 18,484,047 

 P=875,671,294 P=1,689,341,161 P=511,760,765 P=3,076,773,220 

 



 

Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in the 
market interest rates (interest rate risk), foreign exchange rates (foreign currency risk) and market prices (equity price risk). 

 

• Interest Rate Risk 
The Group’s exposure to market rate risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s variable short-term and 
long-term obligations. The Group closely monitors the movements of interest rates, as well as economic factors affecting the 
trends of these movements. In certain cases, depending on its assessment of future movements of interest rates, the Group 
would pre-terminate its debt and obtain a new loan facility which provides for either floating or fixed interest rates. This is 
intended to minimize its financing costs. The Group also monitors its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates by using 
sensitivity analysis to estimate the impact of interest rate movements on its interest income and expense. 

 
The Group is exposed to receivables and borrowings with floating interest rates. The long-term receivable from EEI 
Retirement Fund, Inc. is earning interest based on bank’s internal average lending rate. As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, 
the outstanding principal amounted to P=474.9 million and P=435.1 million with last floating rate of 6.75% and 7.50%, 
respectively. 

 

The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s financial instruments that are exposed to 
interest rate risk: 

 
  Peso floating rate receivables 

 < 1 year 1 to < 2 years 2 to < 3 years >3 years Total 

2010 P=− P=− P=− P=474,864,665 P=474,864,665 

2009 − − − 435,098,216 435,098,216 
 
  Peso floating rate borrowings 

 < 1 year 1 to < 2 years 2 to < 3 years >3 years Total 

2010 P=180,953,274 P=4,000,000 P=4,000,000 P=5,666,666 P=194,619,940 

2009 143,333,334 178,678,905 − − 322,012,239 
 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all variables held 
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings). 

 
 2010 

 
Increase/decrease

in basis points
Effect on profit

before tax

Peso floating rate receivables +74 P=3,513,999 
 -74 (3,513,999) 
   
Peso floating rate borrowings +74 (1,440,188) 
 -74 1,440,188 

 
 2009 

 
Increase/decrease

in basis points
Effect on profit

before tax

Peso floating rate receivables +100 P=4,350,982 
 -100 (4,350,982) 
   
Peso floating rate borrowings +100 (3,220,122) 
 -100 3,220,122 

 
Percentage of increase and decrease is based by the Group on the forecast of an affiliated bank. 

 

There are no other effects of the interest rate sensitivity on the Group’s equity other than those already affecting the 
consolidated statements of income. 

 

• Foreign Currency Risk 
Currency risk is the potential decline in the value of the financial instruments due to exchange rate fluctuations. The Group’s 
currency arise mainly from cash and receivables which are denominated in a currency other than the Group’s functional 
currency or will be denominated in such a currency. 



 

In 2010 and 2009, the Parent Company incurred a gain (loss) arising from its foreign exchange agreements with certain 
financial institutions. The gain (loss) is included in the “Foreign exchange gain (loss) - net” account in the consolidated 
statements of income. This gain (loss) was offset with the foreign exchange gains (losses) arising from the Group’s foreign 
exchange receipts (payments). 

 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the US dollar (USD), Singaporean dollar 
(SGD), Japanese yen (YEN) and Euro (EUR) currency rates, with all variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax 
(due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities): 

 

 2010 

 Percentage 
increase/decrease 

in foreign currency Effect on profit before tax 

USD +6.3% P=30,155,764 
SGD +2.5% 3,496,517 
EUR +4.7% 1,769,532 
   
USD -6.3% (30,155,764) 
SGD -2.5% (3,496,517) 
EUR -4.7% (1,769,532) 
 2009 

 Percentage increase/decrease 
in foreign currency Effect on profit before tax 

USD +2.6% P=13,115,189 
SGD +3.9% 11,856,191 
EUR +1.5% 167,484 
   
USD -2.6% (P=13,115,189) 
SGD -3.9% (11,856,191) 
EUR -1.5% (167,484) 

 

There are no other effects of the foreign currency sensitivity on the Group’s equity other than those already affecting the 
consolidated statements of income. 

 
The foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities in original currencies and equivalents to the 
functional and presentation currency are as follows:  

 
 2010 

 
USD SGD       EUR Equivalents in PHP 

Financial assets     

Cash and cash equivalents $8,229,741 $151,362 $512,282 P=395,659,444 

Receivables 6,265,671 4,049,974 137,101 420,122,687 

 14,495,412 4,201,336 649,383 815,782,131 

Financial liabilities     

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 5,213,203 81,206 626 231,339,736 

 $9,282,209 $4,120,130 $648,757 P=584,442,395 

 
 

2009 

 
USD SGD         EUR Equivalents in PHP 

Financial assets     

Cash and cash equivalents $6,246,700 $2,560,281 €119,725 P=381,341,543 

Receivables 6,926,571 6,620,440 48,322 542,447,354 

 13,173,271 9,180,721 168,047 923,788,897 

Financial liabilities     

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,254,865 − 200 104,763,132 

 $10,918,406 $9,180,721 €167,847 P=819,025,765 

 



 

• Equity Price Risk 
The Group’s equity price risk exposure at year-end relates to financial assets whose values will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market prices, principally, equity securities classified as AFS securities. 

 
Quoted AFS securities are subject to price risk due to changes in market values of instruments arising either from factors 
specific to individual instruments or their issuers or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. 

 
The analysis below is performed for reasonably possible movements in the PSE index with all other variables held constant, 
showing the impact on equity: 

 
 2010 

Market Index Change in variable Effect on equity 

PSE +40% P=2,658,206 
 -40% (2,658,206) 
   
Others +2% 103,300 
 -2% (103,300) 

 
 2009 

Market Index Change in variable  Effect on equity 

PSE +55% P=6,352,729 
 -55% (6,352,729) 
   
Others +6% 325,500 
 -6% (325,500) 

 
The impact of sensitivity of equity prices on the Group’s equity already excludes the impact on transactions affecting the 
consolidated statement of income. 

 
Capital Management 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order to 
support its business and maximize shareholder value. 

 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain 
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes 
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009. 

 

The Group monitors capital using a debt to equity ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total equity. Although some of the 
Group’s loan agreements with banks provide for a maximum debt-to-equity ratio of 5:1, the Group’s policy is to maintain it at 
a lower ratio. 

 
 2010 2009 

Current liabilities P=4,103,284,816 P=4,431,042,384 
Noncurrent liabilities 44,702,591 530,448,132 

Total liabilities (a) 4,147,987,407 4,961,490,516 
Equity (b)  3,741,279,661 3,255,850,746 

Debt to Equity Ratio (a/b) 1.11:1 1.52:1 

 

 

33. Commitments and Contingencies 
 

a. Lease Commitments 
 

1. Operating Lease Commitment - as Lessee 
 

The Group has entered into operating lease agreements with MRC, a related party, and UCPB Leasing and Finance 
Corporation for the rental of its various construction machineries and equipment and company vehicles. 

 
 



 

Future minimum rental payables under non-cancellable operating lease are as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 

Within one year P=7,015,721 P=8,805,732 
After one year but not more than 5 years 1,393,330 8,409,051 

Total P=8,409,051 P=17,214,783 

 
Rental expense charged to consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 
amounted to P=7.9 million annually. 

 
2. Finance Lease Commitment - as Lessee 

 
The Group entered into finance lease transactions with FMLFC, a related party, UCPB Leasing and Finance Corporation and 
BPI Leasing Corporation and for the lease of its various construction machineries and equipment and company vehicles. 

 
Future minimum lease payments under finance lease with the present value of minimum lease payments are as follows: 

 
 2010 2009 

Within one year P=15,705,036 P=24,296,988 
After one year but not more than 5 years 11,812,709 39,146,786 

Total minimum lease payment 27,517,745 63,443,774 
Less amounts representing finance charges 6,272,477 32,204,925 

Present value of minimum lease payments P=21,245,268 P=31,238,849 

 
b. Surety Arrangement and Guarantees 

 
The Parent Company is contingently liable for guarantees arising in the ordinary course of business, including performance, 
surety and warranty bonds for various construction projects amounting to P=3.7 billion and P=2.1 billion as at December 31, 
2010 and 2009, respectively. 

 
c. Standby Letters of Credit 

 
The Parent Company has outstanding irrevocable domestic standby letters of credit amounting to P=65.4 million and P=44.1 
million in 2010 and 2009, respectively, from local banks which are used for bidding and as a guarantee for the down payments 
received from its ongoing construction projects. The Parent Company also has outstanding irrevocable foreign standby letters 
of credit amounting to SGD8.6 million both in 2010 and 2009 and another $1.0 million in 2009. 

 
d. Contingencies 

 
There are pending legal cases against the Group that are being contested by the Group and its legal counsels. Management and 
its legal counsels believe that the final resolutions of these cases will not have a material effect on the financial position and 
operating results of the Group. 

 

34. Notes on Statements of Cash Flows 
 

The following are the noncash items: 
 

a. Investment properties acquired as settlement of receivables amounting to P=10.2 million and P=76.3 million in 2010 and 2009, 
respectively (see Note 12). 

b. Write-off of receivables and write-down of inventories (see Notes 5 and 7). 
 

35. Events after the Reporting Period 
 

Cash Dividends 
The BOD of the Parent Company in its meeting held on March 18, 2011 declared a cash dividend amounting to P=103.6 million 
representing P=0.10 per share to common stockholders of record broken down as follows: 

 
Record Date Payment Date Amount 

April 8, 2011 April 29, 2011 P=0.025 per share 
June 6, 2011 June 30, 2011 P=0.025 per share 
September 6, 2011 September 30, 2011 P=0.025 per share 
December 6, 2011 December 29, 2011 P=0.025 per share 

 



A soft copy of the 2010 EEI Annual Report can be accessed at our website: www.eei.com.ph

Tel. No.: 894-9000
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